

# THE PROVINCE OF MPUMALANGA DIE PROVINSIE MPUMALANGA

# Provincial Gazette Provinsiale Koerant

# **EXTRAORDINARY • BUITENGEWOON**

(Registered as a newspaper) • (As 'n nuusblad geregistreer)

Vol. 25

**NELSPRUIT** 12 JULY 2018 12 JULIE 2018

No. 2948

# We all have the power to prevent AIDS



Prevention is the cure

AIDS HEWUNE

0800 012 322

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

N.B. The Government Printing Works will not be held responsible for the quality of "Hard Copies" or "Electronic Files" submitted for publication purposes





# **IMPORTANT NOTICE:**

THE GOVERNMENT PRINTING WORKS WILL NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ERRORS THAT MIGHT OCCUR DUE TO THE SUBMISSION OF INCOMPLETE / INCORRECT / ILLEGIBLE COPY.

No future queries will be handled in connection with the above.

# **CONTENTS**

		Gazette No.	Page No.
	LOCAL AUTHORITY NOTICES • PLAASLIKE OWERHEIDS KENNISGEWINGS		
51	Emakhazeni Local Municipality: Tariffs Policy	2948	3

# Local Authority Notices • Plaaslike Owerheids Kennisgewings

# **LOCAL AUTHORITY NOTICE 51 OF 2018**

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# **TARIFFS POLICY**

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON: 31/05/2018

IMPLEMENTATION DATE1/07/2018

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	4
2	DEFINITIONS	4
3	PURPOSE OF THE POLICY	5
4	SCOPE OF APPLICATION	6
5	LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK	6
6	PRINCIPLES	6
7	TARIFF POLICY GUIDELINES 7.1 Calculation of tariffs for major services 7.2 Electricity 7.3 Water 7.4 Refuse removal 7.5 Sewerage 7.6 Minor tariffs.	81216
8	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	18
9	MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REPORTING	18
10	IMPLEMENTATION	19

# Introduction

#### Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "be a developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities.

Council is committed to its mission to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### The Values of the Council are:

Consultation
Service Standards
Access
Courtesy
Information
Transparency
Redress
Value for money
Responsiveness

# **Vision**

A developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities

# **Mission**

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### Definitions

"chief financial officer" means a person designated in terms of section 80(2)(a) of the Municipal Finance Management Act

"the municipality" means Emakhazeni Local Municipality

"municipal accounts" means a postulated current account based on median bills for water, electricity, sanitation, solid waste services and rates. Sundry charges and interest on debt are excluded.

"provision for free basic services" means a budget provision, funded from National Government transfers and municipal rates to subsidize basic services.

"rates and general account" means a budget provision used to fund other municipal services excluding water, electricity, sanitation, solid waste tariff funded services.

"sundry tariff" means a tariff set as a fixed rand amount.

"consumption based tariff" means a tariff set as rand amount per measurable unit of service.

"CPI" means the consumer price index, excluding mortgage costs, as measured by Statistics South Africa.

# Categories

The tariff structure of Emakhazeni Local Municipality makes provision for the following categories of consumers as per Section 74(3) Municipal Systems Act.

- Residential
- ♦ Business
- ♦ Commercial
- ♦ Industrial
- ♦ Agricultural
- ♦ Government

# Purpose of the policy

The purpose and objectives of this policy are to:

ensure that the tariffs approved by council during the budget process are consistent with this policy;

ensure that, where a service connection is made, a sundry tariff is used, and where a metered amount of a service is consumed, a consumption-based tariff is used;

ensure that, where a service is primarily provided for the benefit of the community and an individual's use cannot be accurately measured, the cost of providing the service is recovered by means of rates;

ensure that poor people have access to free basic services in line with national government policy, taking into account the affordability constraints of the municipality; and

4.5 guide the annual setting or revision of tariffs. The policy does not make specific tariff proposals, nor does it deal with any detail with the implementation of specific tariff proposals.

# Scope of Application

The Policy applies to all tariffs charged within the defined boundaries of Emakhazeni Municipality.

# Legislative Framework

The policy is required by section 74 of the Municipal System Act and section 62(1)(f)(i) of the Municipal Finance Management Act

# Principles

- 7.1 Service tariffs imposed by the Municipality shall be viewed as usage charges and shall not be viewed as taxes, and therefore the ability of the relevant consumer or user of the services to which such tariffs relate, shall not be considered as a relevant criterion (except in the case of the indigency relief measures approved by the municipality from time to time).
- 7.2 The Municipality shall ensure that its tariffs are uniformly and fairly applied throughout the municipal region.
- 7.3 Tariffs for the four major services rendered by the municipality, namely:
  - ♦ electricity
  - ♦ water
  - sewerage (waste water)
  - refuse removal (solid waste),

shall as far as possible recover the expenses associated with the rendering of each service concerned. The tariff which a particular consumer or user pays shall therefore be directly related to the standard of service received and the quantity of the particular service used or consumed.

- 7.4 The Municipality shall, as far as circumstances reasonably permit, ensure that the tariffs levied in respect of the foregoing services further generate an operating surplus each financial year of 10% or such lesser percentage as the council of the Municipality may determine at the time that the annual operating budget is approved. Such surpluses shall be applied in relief of property rates and for the partial financing of general services or for the future capital expansion of the service concerned, or both. The modesty of such surplus shall prevent the service tariffs concerned from being viewed as concealed taxes.
- 7.5 The Municipality shall develop, approve and at least annually review an indigent <u>support programme</u> for the municipal area. This programme shall set out clearly the municipality's cost recovery policy in respect of the tariffs which it levies on registered indigents, and the implications of such policy for the tariffs which it imposes on other users and consumers in the municipal region.
- 7.6 In line with the principles embodied in the Constitution and in other legislation pertaining to local government, the Municipality may differentiate between different categories of users and consumers in regard to the tariffs which it levies. Such differentiation shall, however, at all times be reasonable, and shall be fully disclosed in each annual budget.

- 7.7 The Municipality's tariff policy shall be transparent, and the extent to which there is crosssubsidisation between categories of consumers or users shall be evident to all consumers or users of the service in question.
- 7.8 The Municipality further undertakes to ensure that its tariffs shall be easily explainable and understood by all consumers and users affected by the tariff policy concerned.
- 7.9 The Municipality also undertakes to render its services cost effectively in order to ensure the best possible cost of service delivery.
- 7.10 In the case of directly measurable services, namely electricity and water, the consumption of such services shall be properly metered by the Municipality, and meters shall be read, wherever circumstances reasonably permit, on a monthly basis. Where readings are not available an average consumption will be utilised for a period not exceeding two(2) months. The flat rate will be used for water and electricity consumption. The charges levied on consumers shall be proportionate to the quantity of the service which they consume.
- 7.11 In addition, the Municipality shall levy monthly availability charges for the services concerned, and these charges shall be fixed for each type of property as determined in accordance with the detailed policies set out below. Generally, consumers of water and electricity shall therefore pay two charges: one, relatively minor, which is unrelated to the volume of consumption and is levied because of the availability of the service concerned; and another directly related to the consumption of the service in question.
- 7.12 In considering the costing of its water, electricity and sewerage services, the Municipality shall take due cognisance of the high capital cost of establishing and expanding such services, and of the resultant high fixed costs, as opposed to variable costs of operating these services. The Municipality therefore undertakes to plan the management and expansion of the services carefully in order to ensure that both current and reasonably expected future demands are adequately catered for, and that demand levels which fluctuate significantly over shorter periods are also met. This may mean that the services operate at less than full capacity at various periods, and the costs of such surplus capacity must also be covered in the tariffs which are annually levied.
- 7.13 In adopting what is fundamentally a two-part tariff structure, namely a fixed availability charge coupled with a charge based on consumption, the Municipality believes that it is properly attending to the demands which both future expansion and variable demand cycles and other fluctuations will make on service delivery.
- 7.14 It is therefore accepted that part of the Municipality's tariff policy for electricity services will be to ensure that those consumers who are mainly responsible for peak demand, and therefore for the incurring by the municipality of the associated demand charges from Eskom, will have to bear the costs associated with these charges. To this end the municipality shall therefore install demand meters to measure the maximum demand of such consumers during certain periods. Such consumers shall therefore pay the relevant demand charge as well as a service charge directly related to their actual consumption of electricity during the relevant metering period.

# Tariff Policy Guidelines

### Calculation of tariffs for major services

In order to determine the tariffs which must be charged for the supply of the four major services, the Municipality shall identify all the costs of operation of the undertakings concerned, including specifically the following:

- a) Cost of bulk purchases in the case of water and electricity.
- b) Distribution costs.
- c) Distribution losses in the case of electricity and water.
- d) Depreciation expenses.
- e) Maintenance of infrastructure and other fixed assets.
- f) Administration and service costs, including:
  - service charges levied by other departments such as finance, human resources and legal services;
  - reasonable general overheads, such as the costs associated with the office of the accounting officer;
  - adequate contributions to the provisions for bad debts and obsolescence of stock;
  - all other ordinary operating expenses associated with the service concerned including, in the case of the electricity service, the cost of providing street lighting in the municipal area (note: the costs of the democratic process in the municipality that is, all expenses associated with the political structures of the municipality shall form part of the expenses to be financed from property rates and general revenues, and shall not be included in the costing of the major services of the municipality).
- g) The intended surplus to be generated for the financial year, such surplus to be applied:
  - as an appropriation to capital reserves; and/or
  - generally in relief of rates and general services.
- h) The cost of approved indigency relief measures.

Consumers, who have registered as indigents in terms of the Municipality's indigency relief programme, shall be provided with the first 50kWh of electricity and the first 6 kl of water, including the basic amount, per month free of charge. The Municipality shall further consider relief in respect of the tariffs for sewerage and refuse removal for such registered indigents to the extent that the council deems such relief affordable in terms of each annual budget, but on the understanding that such relief shall not be less than the basic amount on the monthly amount billed for the service concerned.

Because water is a scarce national resource, and the municipality is committed to the prudent conservation of such resources, the tariff levied for domestic consumption of water shall escalate according to the volume of water consumed. The tariff for domestic consumption shall be based on monthly consumption of up to 6 kl, more than 6 kl but not more than 14 kl, more than 14 kl but not more than 24 kl, more than 24 kl but not more than 34 kl, and more than 34 kl. Tariffs for non-domestic consumption shall be based on monthly consumption of 0 kl up to 20 kl, more than 20 kl but not more than 30 kl, more

than 30 kl but not more than 40 kl, more than 40 kl but not more than 50 kl, and more than 50 kl.

Tariffs for pre-paid meters shall be the same as the ordinary consumption tariffs levied on the category of consumer concerned, but no availability charge shall be levied on properties where pre-paid meters have been installed. This distinction is made in recognition of the financial advantages which pre-paid metering entails for the services in question.

# **Electricity**

#### **General**

The various categories of electricity consumers, as set out below, shall be charged at the applicable tariffs, as approved by the council in each annual budget.

Tariff adjustments shall be effective from 1 July each year or as soon as possible thereafter.

Categories of consumption and charges shall be as follows:

- a) With the single exception of registered indigents, all electricity consumers shall be billed for their electricity consumption at the tariff applicable to the category in which the particular consumer falls.
- b) All domestic electricity consumers of the municipality who are registered as indigents with the municipality shall receive free the first 50kWh (fifty) of electricity consumed per month.
- c) All domestic electricity consumers other than registered indigents and consumers using prepaid meters per month shall additionally be billed a basic charge per meter installed.
- d) All commercial, industrial and other non-domestic properties shall additionally be billed a monthly basic charge per meter installed and, where applicable, a demand charge appropriate to their respective levels of consumption.
- e) The local municipality's departmental electricity consumption shall be charged at cost.
- f) A basic charge per electricity meter, as determined by the council from time to time, shall be charged on all electricity consumers, except registered indigents.

# **New electricity installations**

Per written authorisation of the Technical Services Manager, a new electricity installation shall be installed, or permitted to be installed, in any premises within the area of supply and connected to the Council's supply mains.

Application for such authority shall be lodged with the Technical Service Department, via an application form obtainable from the Cashiers at the Municipality's offices.

The Council shall not be liable for any loss or damage, direct or consequential, due to or arising from any interruption, diminution or discontinuance of the supply of electricity or any temporary increase or surge therein, occasioned by a strike, blackout, war, Act of God, legislative action or embargo or any other cause beyond the Council's control or by any fault occurring in the machinery, supply or service mains or other apparatus of the Council or by the rectification of any such fault.

The consumer is deemed to hold the Council indemnified against any action, claim, expense or demand arising from or in connection with any of the matters aforesaid.

The Technical Service Department may without notice, interrupt the supply of electricity to any premises for the purpose of carrying out emergency repairs to the supply or service mains.

## **Termination of supply**

Unless an application for the continuance of the supply to such premises has been lodged with the Chief Financial Officer, the Engineer shall be entitled to disconnect the supply to the premises.

A consumer who has given notice of termination of supply may claim a refund of the amount deposited by him, or the residual amount after the deduction of any amount owing by him for electricity supplied or services rendered.

The Chief Financial Officer shall make payment of the amount due within 30 days from the date of the receipt of any such claim.

The deposit shall be forfeited to the Council where no claim for a refund of the amount deposited is made:

- Within 30 days of the date of the termination of the supply, and no interest shall accrue after the expiration of such period; or
- If a claim is made after the expiration of 30 days from the date of termination of supply, the Chief Financial Officer may in his absolute discretion, refund such amount.

# **Meter readings**

Meters shall be read, as far as practical, at intervals as determined by the policy.

Electricity consumed between meter readings will be deemed to be consumed evenly between such meter reading dates.

Final readings: No reduction of or addition to the prescribed monthly fixed or minimum charges will be made, unless the date of reading is at least five days before or after a full period of one month or a multiple thereof, from the previous reading.

Where a meter is read less than or more than one month after the commencement of an account, or where an account is terminated less than or more than one month or a multiple thereof after the preceding reading of the meter, the monthly fixed or minimum charge will be proportioned accordingly. For the purpose of assessing fixed or minimum charges 'one month' shall be regarded as 30 days.

# Months in which Meter is not Read

An account for a provisional sum for electricity shall be rendered. The provisional sum shall be assessed with due regard, wherever possible, to the average monthly value of fixed or minimum

charges and electricity consumed upon the premises served by the meter and to any tariff changes that may have occurred.

Where there has been no previous consumption, the Chief Financial Officer may determine the amount of the said provisional sum by reference to such consumption on other similar premises as he considers would constitute a reasonable guide.

#### Failure of a meter

During the period from identification of a meter having ceased reading, to when it is replaced and a reading can be taken, an estimated consumption will be applied.

Should a consumer have been billed a zero consumption for any period of time and it is subsequently found to have been due to a ceased meter and the property was not vacant at the time or the usage pattern had not changed, the municipality shall bill retrospectively from the time that the meter had ceased until the time it has been replaced. Should the property have been vacant or where the usage pattern had changed, a signed and sworn affidavit needs to be provided for consideration.

# **Rendering Accounts**

As far as practical, monthly accounts that are to be paid within 10 working days from the date of the account, shall be rendered.

Where a consumer fails to pay the account within the specified period, the Engineer or the Chief Financial Officer may cut off the supply according to the Credit Control Policy

A consumer whose supply of electricity has been disconnected in terms of this section shall not be entitled to be reconnected to the Council's supply mains until the conditions as stipulated in the Credit Control Policy have been achieved.

Electricity supplies are disconnected when a consumer's account is in arrears. Thereafter, a final demand is issued. Failure to respond will result in debt collection procedures being followed according to the Credit Control Policy.

# Validity of meter reading

The record given by any meter installed on any premises by the Council shall be conclusive proof of the quantity of electricity consumed, subject to following:

Where a meter is tested and found to be more than 2,5% inaccurate, the Chief Financial Officer shall correct the consumer's account to conform to the results of the test and shall refund the consumer any amount paid by him in excess of the amount due. However no such adjustment shall be made in respect of any period prior to the last metered period for which an account is rendered to the consumer, unless the consumer is able to establish to the satisfaction of the Technical Service Department, that the meter was inaccurate during such prior period.

# **Request to Test Accuracy of Meter**

Per the request of any consumer and upon the payment of the fee prescribed, the Technical Service Department shall test the accuracy of any meter installed by the Council.

Where any such test is carried out at the request of the consumer, the fee paid by him shall be refunded if the meter is found to be more than 2.5% inaccurate.

#### Water

#### General

The categories of water consumers as set out below shall be charged at the applicable tariffs, as approved by the council in each annual budget.

Tariff adjustments shall be effective from 1 July each year.

Categories of consumption and charges shall be:

- a) All consumers shall receive free the first 6 kl (six) of water consumed per month while consumers registered as indigents with the municipality shall receive free the first 6 kl (six) of water, including the basic amount.
- b) All domestic consumers shall be charged for actual water consumption at a stepped tariff per kl as determined by the council from time to time.
- c) The tariff applicable to domestic consumption of water shall not exceed 75% per kl of the tariff applicable to other consumers. All other consumers, including businesses, industries and institutional consumers, shall pay the stepped tariff per kl as determined by the council from time to time.
- d) A basic charge per water meter, as determined by the council from time to time, shall be charged on all water consumers, except registered.
- e) The local municipality's departmental water consumption shall be charged at cost.

# **Application for a Supply of Water**

An application for the supply of water must be made to the Council on a prescribed form together with a copy of the applicant's identity document. Until the application has been granted, no persons shall have access to water from the water supply system.

The prescribed form mentioned above may contain such conditions as the Council deems fit.

An application granted by the Council shall constitute an agreement between the Council and the applicant. Such agreement shall take effect on the date referred to or stipulated therein.

A consumer shall be liable for all the conditions prescribed in the application form, in respect of the supply of water granted to him until the agreement has been terminated.

# **Special Agreement for Supply of Water**

The Council may enter into a special agreement for the supply of water to:

- a) An applicant in its area of jurisdiction;
- b) The supply necessitates the imposition of conditions not contained in the prescribed form; or

c) An applicant outside its area of jurisdiction.

# **Termination of Agreement for Supply of Water**

A consumer may terminate the agreement by giving the Council, not less than 5 working days notice in writing, of his intention to do so.

The Chief Financial Officer may by notice in writing of not less than 5 working days, advise a consumer of the Council's intention to terminate his agreement for the supply of water, if:

- a) He has not consumed any water in the preceding 6 months and has not made satisfactory arrangements with the Council, for the continuation of his agreement;
- b) He has committed a breach of the bylaws of the Council and has failed to rectify such a breach;
- c) The Council cannot continue to supply him with water; and
- d) In terms of an arrangement with another local water supplier, such authority shall supply water to the consumer.

The Council may without notice, terminate an agreement for supply if a consumer has vacated the premises to which such agreement relates.

# **Payment of Deposit**

The Chief Financial Officer may require an applicant to deposit with him a sum of money for water. Alternatively the Chief Financial Officer may on written application by a consumer, accept from him a guarantee to his satisfaction in lieu of the sum of money.

The deposit paid or the guarantee provided by the consumer shall not be regarded as payment of a current account due for the supply of water.

Upon termination of an agreement, if there is any amount outstanding in respect of supply to the consumer, the Chief Financial Officer may:

- a) Apply the deposit in payment or part payment of the amount and refund any balance to the consumer; or
- b) Recover the amount in terms of the guarantee.

An agreement referred to above may contain a condition that upon termination of the agreement, a deposit will be forfeited to the Council if it is not claimed within 30 days of the termination.

# **Provisions of Communication / Connection Pipe**

Once an application for a supply of water in respect of a premise has been granted and no communication pipe exists in respect of the premises, the owner shall make an application on the prescribed form and pay the prescribed charge, for the installation of the abovementioned pipe.

If an application is made for a supply of water to premises, which necessitates the extension of the water supply system, the Chief Financial Officer may agree to the extension subject to conditions as he may impose.

# **Cutting-off or Restricting of Supply**

The Council may cut off (business consumers) or restrict (residential consumers) the supply of water, if a consumer has:

- a) Failed to pay a sum due to it in terms of its bylaws subject to the requirements of the Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy;
- b) Committed a breach of its bylaws and has failed to rectify such breach within the period specified in a written notice served on him, requiring him to do so; and
- c) By written notice, inform him of its intention to cut off or restrict his supply on a specified date and it may on or after that date so cut off or restrict such supply.

The consumer shall pay:

- a) The prescribed charge for the cutting off or restricting of his water supply; and
- b) The prescribed charge for restoration of the water supply.

Provided that, in the case of a cutting off or restriction, the prescribed charges required, as mentioned above, must be paid prior to the restoration of the water supply or alternate arrangements have been agreed upon as per the Credit Control Policy conditions.

The Chief Financial Officer may at the written request of a consumer:

- a) Turn off the supply of water to his premises; and
- b) Reinstate the supply on the dates requested by him. The consumer shall prior to the reinstatement of his water supply; pay the prescribed charge for the turning-off of his water supply and for its reinstatement.

The Technical Service Manager may disconnect a water installation from the communication pipe and remove it if:

- a) The agreement for supply has been terminated, and no further application has been received within a period of 90 days of such termination; or
- b) The building on the premises concerned has been demolished.

# Metering of Water Supplied to a Consumer

A meter may not be used in the case of:

- a) An automatic sprinkler installation;
- b) A fire installation in respect of which steps have been taken to detect unauthorised draw-off of water for purposes other than fire fighting; and
- c) A special circumstance at the Chief Financial Officer's discretion.

The meter mentioned above shall be provided and installed by the Council. It shall remain the property of the Council and may be changed by it when deemed necessary.

### **Quantity of Water Supplied to a Consumer**

For the purpose of assessing the quantity of water supplied through a meter to a consumer over a specified period, it shall be deemed, unless the contrary can be proved, that:

- a) Such quantity is represented by the difference between readings of the meter taken at the beginning and end of a period;
- b) The meter was registered correctly during the period; and
- c) The entries in the records of the Council were correctly processed.

Provided that if water is supplied to or taken by, a consumer without passing through a meter, the estimate by the Chief Financial Officer of the quantity of such water, shall be deemed to be correct.

## **Payment of Water Supplied**

All water supplied by the Council shall be paid for by the consumer at the prescribed charge for that particular category of use for which the supply was granted.

A consumer shall pay for all water supplied to him from the date of agreement, until the date of termination thereof.

The Chief Financial Officer may estimate a quantity of water supplied in respect of a period or periods within the interval between actual successive readings of the meter, and may render an account to a consumer for the quantity of water so estimated, to have been supplied to him during each period.

The amount of an account rendered for water supplied to a consumer, shall become due and payable on the due date stipulated in the account.

If a consumer is dissatisfied with an account rendered for water supplied to him by the Council, he may prior to the date stipulated therein, object in writing to the account detailing his reasons for such dissatisfaction.

However the lodging of an objection shall not entitle a consumer to defer payment, except with the written consent of the Chief Financial Officer.

Should a consumer use water for uses other than which it was being supplied for, he shall be liable for the amount due to the Council in respect of:

- Quantity of water which in its opinion he has consumed and for which he has not been charged; and
- b) The difference between the cost of the water used by him at the rate at which he has been charged, and the cost of the water at the rate at which he should have been charged.

If amendments to the prescribed charges for water supplied become operative on a date between meter readings it shall be deemed, for the purpose of rendering an account in respect of the charges that the same quantity of water was supplied in each period of 24 hours during the interval between the meter readings.

A consumer shall not under any circumstances be entitled to a reduction of the amount payable for water supplied to him except for leaks arising from faulty connection to water supply.

# **Defective Meters**

A consumer must make an application on the prescribed form, against payment of the prescribed charge for the meter to be tested if found defective.

The prescribed charge may be refunded if the meter is found to be defective.

The account of a consumer, who has been charged for water supplied through a defective meter, shall be adjusted over the period determined by the Chief Financial Officer.

# **Recovery of Account**

The Municipality:

- a) Shall collect all monies that are due and payable to it, subject to the Local Government Municipal Systems Act and any other applicable legislation; and
- b) For this purpose, shall adopt, maintain and implement a credit control and debt collection policy, which is consistent with its Rates and Tariff Policies and complies with the provisions of the Local Government Municipal Systems Act, 2000.

# Refuse removal

The categories of refuse removal users as set out below shall be charged at the applicable tariffs, as approved by the council in each annual budget.

Tariff adjustments shall be effective from 1 July each year.

A separate fixed monthly refuse removal charge shall apply to each of the following categories of users, based on the costs of the service concerned:

- a) Domestic and other users
- b) Business and other users

Registered indigents shall receive a 100% discount on the basic charge and if the service is more than the basic amount, the full amount exceeding the basic amount, is payable.

A fixed monthly charge shall be charged to the local municipality's departments equal to the lowest (domestic) tariff.

# Sewerage

The categories of sewerage users as set out below shall be charged per month at the applicable tariff as approved by the council in each annual budget.

Tariff adjustments will be effective from 1 July each year.

Categories of usage and charges shall be:

- a) A basic (availability) charge per month shall be charged for undeveloped erven, irrespective of their permitted or intended use.
- b) A fixed monthly charge based on the costs of the service shall be charged for domestic users. Registered indigents shall receive a 100% discount on the basic charge and if the service is more than the basic amount, the full amount exceeding the basic amount, is payable.
- c) A fixed monthly charge based on the costs of the service per sewer point/toilet shall be charged to all businesses, industries and institutional users.

- d) A fixed monthly charge per sewer point/toilet shall be charged to the local municipality's departments equal to the lowest (domestic) tariff.
- e) A rebate will be applied to institutions i.e. Schools, Public Benefit Organisations on the basis of application annually to the municipality wherein the institution has 10 or more toilets whereby the following rebate will apply:
  - 20 % rebate, on the strength of physical verification on the property.

### **Minor tariffs**

All minor tariffs shall be standardised within the municipal region.

All minor tariffs shall be approved by the council in each annual budget, and shall, when deemed appropriate by the council, be subsidised by property rates and general revenues, particularly when the tariffs will prove uneconomical when charged to cover the cost of the service concerned, or when the cost cannot accurately be determined, or when the tariff is designed purely to regulate rather than finance the use of the particular service or amenity.

All minor tariffs over which the municipality has full control, and which are not directly related to the cost of a particular service, shall annually be adjusted at least in line with the prevailing consumer price index, unless there are compelling reasons why such adjustment should not be effected.

The following services shall be considered as subsidised services, and the tariffs levied shall cover 50% or as near as possible to 50% of the annual operating expenses budgeted for the service concerned:

- burials and cemeteries
- rentals for the use of municipal sports facilities

The following services shall be considered as community services, and no tariffs shall be levied for their use:

- municipal museum and art gallery
- disposal of garden refuse at the municipal tip site for residents
- municipal parks and open spaces.

The following services shall be considered as economic services, and the tariffs levied shall cover 100% or as near as possible to 100% of the budgeted annual operating expenses of the service concerned:

- municipal botanical garden
- disposal of all refuse at the municipal tip site for non-residents
- municipal lending library
- municipal reference library
- municipal swimming pool
- maintenance of graves and garden of remembrance (cremations)
- housing rentals

- rentals for the use of municipal halls and other premises (subject to the proviso set out below)
- building plan fees
- cleaning of stands
- electricity, water, sewerage: new connection fees
- sales of plants
- photostat copies, faxes and printouts
- clearance certificates.

The following charges and tariffs shall be considered as regulatory or punitive, and shall be determined as appropriate in each annual budget:

- fines for lost or overdue library books
- advertising sign fees
- pound fees
- electricity, water: disconnection and reconnection fees
- penalty and other charges imposed in terms of the approved policy on credit control and debt collection

Market-related rentals shall be levied for the lease of municipal properties.

In the case of rentals for the use of municipal halls and premises, if the accounting officer is satisfied that the halls or premises are required for non-profit making purposes <u>and</u> for the provision of a service to the community, the accounting officer may waive 50% of the applicable rental.

The accounting officer shall determine whether an indemnity or guarantee must in each instance be lodged for the rental of municipal halls, premises and sports fields, and in so determining shall be guided by the likelihood of the municipality's sustaining damages as a result of the use of the facilities concerned.

# Roles and Responsibilities

The accounting officer of a municipality is responsible for managing the financial administration of the municipality, and must for this purpose take all reasonable steps to ensure that the municipality has and implements a tariff policy referred to in section 74 of the Municipal Systems Act.

A municipal council must adopt and implement a tariff policy on the levying of fees for municipal services provided by the municipality itself or by way of service delivery agreements, and which complies with the provisions of the Municipal Systems Act and with any other applicable legislation.

#### Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting

When an annual budget is tabled in terms of section 16(2) of the Municipal Finance Management Act, it must be accompanied by the draft resolutions imposing any municipal tax and setting any municipal tariffs as may be required for the budget year.

Municipal tax and tariffs may not be increased during a financial year except when required in terms of a financial recovery plan.

# Implementation

The Tariff Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on: 31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr: 38/05/2018

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# **BUDGET POLICY**

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON: 31/05/2018

**IMPLEMENTATION DATE: 01/07/2018** 

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	22
2	DEFINITIONS	22
3	OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY	23
4	LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK	23
5	PRINCIPLES	23
6	REQUIREMENTS FOR MUNICIPAL BUDGETS	25
7	RESPONSIBILITIES IN PREPARING THE BUDGET	36
8	PREPARATION OF THE BUDGET	36
9	BUDGET VIREMENT	38
10	REVIEW OF POLICY	39
11	ANNEXURES	39
12	IMPLEMENTATION	30

# INTRODUCTION

# 1.1 Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "create a secure environmental and sustainable development to promote service excellence and unity". Council is committed to its mission of creating conductive institutional environment within which communities can thrive economically and socially.

#### The Values of the Council are:

Consultation
Service Standards
Access
Courtesy
Information
Transparency
Redress
Value for money
Responsiveness

#### 1.2 Vision

A developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities

#### 1.3 Mission

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

# 2 DEFINITIONS

- "Accounting Officer" means the Municipal Manager appointed in terms of Section 60 of the Act
- "Chief Financial Officer" means a person designated in terms of section 80(2) (a) of the Municipal Finance Management Act
- "The Municipality" means Emakhazeni Local Municipality
- "MFMA" Municipal Finance Management Act no 56 of 2003.
- "Budget" means a Medium Term Revenue and Expenditure Framework (MTREF) covering at least 7 years. Three years of audited history, the current being implemented, the budget year and two outer year forecasts.
- "Adjustment Budget" means the mechanism to amend an approved budget under certain specified conditions.
- "Budget Virement" means the process of transferring budgeted funds from one line item number to another, with the approval of the relevant Head of department, CFO and Municipal Manager, to enable budget managers to amend budgets in the light of experience or to reflect anticipated changes. (Section 28 (2)(d) MFMA)

# 3 OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY

The objectives of this policy are to:

- To set out the budgeting principles which the Council will follow in preparing each annual budget, as well
  as the responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer in compiling such budget.
- b. To ensure that the Emakhazeni Local Municipality only incurs expenditure in accordance with its approved budget.
- c. To assist the Emakhazeni Local Municipality in the management of its income and expenditure so as to achieve its goals as set out in its policy documents.

# 4 LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK

- 4.1 In terms of Chapter 4, section 16 of the Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act No. 56 of 2003) a Municipal Council must for each financial year, by way of annual budgets, appropriate money from its Revenue Fund for the requirements of the Municipality. The annual budget of a Municipality is both a legislative requirement in terms of the Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003, as well as a tool for planning and control. The financial year of local authorities covers the period 01 July of each year to 30 June of the following year.
- 4.2 A Municipality must, in terms Chapter 5, section 25(1) of the Local Government Municipal Systems Act, 2000 (Act No. 32 of 2000), undertake developmentally oriented planning. It must adopt a single, inclusive and strategic plan in the form of an Integrated Development Plan (IDP). This must form the policy framework and general basis on which annual budgets must be based.

# 5 PRINCIPLES

- 5.1 The Council shall adopt three-year budget statements for the next financial year's budgets. The budget statement shall be the focal point of the budget, and shall be linked to the IDP. The Budget and IDP review process are to run concurrently.
- 5.2 Except in so far as capital projects represent a contractual commitment to the Municipality extending over more than one financial year, the annual capital budget shall be prepared from a zero base.
- 5.3 The capital budget component of the annual or adjustments budget shall only be approved by the Council if it has been properly balanced, that is, if the sources of finance which are realistically envisaged to fund the budget equal the proposed capital expenses.
- 5.4 Before approving the capital budget component of the annual or adjustments budget, the Council shall consider the impact on the present and future operating budgets of the Municipality in relation to:
  - a. finance charges to be incurred on external loans;
  - b. depreciation of fixed assets;
  - c. maintenance of fixed assets; and
  - d. any other ordinary operation expenses associated with any items on such capital budget.
- 5.5 In addition, the Council shall consider the likely impact of such operation expenses net of any revenues

- expected to be generated by such item on future property rates and service tariffs.
- Any unappropriated surplus from previous financial years, shall not be used to balance any annual or adjustments budget, but shall be appropriated, as far as it is not required to finance the payment of operating creditors or (provided it is cash backed) to the Municipality's asset financing reserve.
- 5.7 An impending operating deficit shall be made good in an adjustments budget, but if an operating deficit arises at the end of a financial year, notwithstanding the precautionary measures adopted by the Council, such deficit shall immediately be made good in the annual or adjustment budget for the ensuing financial year, and shall not be offset against any un-appropriated surplus carried forward from the preceding financial years.
- The Municipality shall establish and maintain a provision for impairment of debtors in accordance with its Rates, Tariffs and Credit Control Policies, and shall budget appropriately for the contribution to such provision in each annual and adjustments budget.
- 5.9 In preparing its revenue budget, the Municipality shall strive to maintain the aggregate revenues from property rates at not less than 16% of the aggregate revenues budgeted for.
- 5.10 When considering the draft annual budget, the Council shall consider the impact that the proposed increases in rates and service tariffs will have on the monthly municipal accounts of households in the municipal area. The impact of such increases shall be assessed on the basis of a fair sample of randomly selected accounts.
- 5.11 Finance charges payable by the Municipality shall be apportioned between departments or votes on the basis of the proportion at the last balance sheet date of the carrying value of the fixed assets belonging to such department or vote to the aggregate carrying value of all fixed assets in the Municipality. However, where it is the Council's policy to raise external loans only for the financing of fixed assets in specified council services, finance charges shall be charged to or apportioned only between the departments or votes relating to such services.
- 5.12 The allocation of interest earned on the Municipality's investments shall be budgeted for in terms of the Investment Policy.
- 5.13 The Municipality shall adequately provide in each annual and adjustments budget for the maintenance of its fixed assets in accordance with its Fixed Asset Management and Accounting Policy. At least 5% of the operating budget component of each annual and adjustments budget shall be set aside for such maintenance.
- 5.14 Notwithstanding the preceding principle, the budget for salaries, allowances and salaries-related benefits shall be separately prepared.
- 5.15 The Municipality shall establish and maintain a provision for accrued leave entitlements equal to 100% of the accrued leave entitlement of officials as at 30 June of each financial year, and shall budget appropriately for the contributions to such provision in each annual and adjustments budget.
- 5.16 Each Department Manager shall submit his / her business plan for the ensuing year to the finance department at around February of each year accompanied by general expenditure projections with total budget not exceeding the limits set by the Chief Financial Officer.
- 5.17 In approving the budget the Council shall approve the allocations made per function as prescribed by the National Treasury. The Council may however require more detailed supporting documentation in regard

to the functional allocations. In addition the resolution shall include any other matter prescribed by this Policy.

# 6 REQUIREMENTS FOR MUNICIPAL BUDGETS

# Section 15: Appropriation of Funds for Expenditure

6.1 Expenses may only be incurred in terms of the approved annual budget (or adjustments budget) and within the limits of the amounts appropriated for each budget vote.

# **Section 16: Annual Budgets**

- 6.2 The Council must approve the annual budget before the start of the financial year to which it relates.
- 6.3 The Mayor must table the annual budget at least ninety days before the start of such financial year.
- 6.4 The capital budget may extend over three years, provided that it is separated into annual appropriations for that period.

# Section 17: Contents of Annual Budgets and Supporting Documents

- 6.5 The budget must be in the prescribed format, and must be divided into a capital and an operating budget.
- 6.6 The budget must reflect the realistically expected revenues by major source for the budget year concerned.
- 6.7 The expenses reflected in the budget must be divided into votes.
- The budget must also contain the foregoing information for the two financial years following the financial year to which the budget relates, as well as the actual revenues and expenses for the year before the current year, and the estimated revenues and expenses for the current year.
- 6.9 The budget must be accompanied by all the following documents:
  - a. draft resolutions approving the budget and levying property rates, other taxes and tariffs for the financial year concerned;
  - b. draft resolutions (where applicable) amending the IDP and the budget related policies;
  - c. measurable performance objectives for each budget vote, taking into account the Council's IDP;
  - d. the projected cash flows for the financial year by revenue sources and expenditure votes;
  - e. any proposed amendments to the IDP;
  - f. any proposed amendments to the budget-related policies;
  - g. the cost to the Council of the salaries, allowances and other benefits of its political office bearers and other councillors, the Municipal Manager, the Chief Financial Officer, and other senior

managers;

- h. particulars of any proposed allocations or grants to other municipalities, municipal entities, external mechanisms assisting the Municipality in service delivery, other organs of state, and organizations such as NGOs, welfare institutions and so on;
- i. particulars of the Council's investments; and
- various information in regard to municipal entities under the shared or sole control of the Council.

## Section 18: Funding of Expenditures

- 6.10 The budget may be financed only from:
  - a. realistically expected revenues, based on current and previous collection levels;
  - cash-backed funds available from previous surpluses where such funds are not required for other purposes; and
  - borrowed funds in respect of the capital budget only.

#### **Section 19: Capital Projects**

- 6.11 A municipality may spend money on a capital project only if the money for the project (including the cost of any required feasibility studies) has been appropriated in the capital budget.
- 6.12 The total cost of the project must also be approved by the Council.
- 6.13 The envisaged sources of funding for the capital budget must be properly considered, and the Council must be satisfied that this funding is available and has not been committed for other purposes.
- 6.14 Before approving a capital project, the Council must consider the projected cost of the project over all the ensuing financial years until the project becomes operational, as well as the future operational costs and any revenues which may arise in respect of such project, including the likely future impact on property rates and service tariffs.

# Section 20: Matters to be Prescribed

- 6.15 The Minister of Finance must prescribe the form of the annual budget, and may further prescribe a variety of other matters, including the inflation projections which the Municipality must use in compiling its budget.
- 6.16 The Minister may also prescribe uniform norms and standards in regard to the setting of tariffs where a municipality entity or other external mechanisms are used to perform a municipal service; and may also take appropriate steps to ensure that a municipality does not, in exceeding its fiscal powers, materially and unreasonably prejudice national economic policies (particularly on inflation, administered pricing and equity), economic activities across municipal boundaries, and the national mobility of goods, services, capital or labour.

# **Section 21: Budget Preparation Process**

- 6.17 The Mayor of the Municipality must:
  - a. co-ordinate the processes for preparing the annual budget, and for reviewing the municipality's IDP and budget-related policies to ensure that the budget, the IDP, and the policies are mutually consistent and credible;
  - at least ten months before the start of the ensuing financial year, table in the Council the time schedule with key deadlines for the preparation, tabling and approval of the following year's annual budget, the review of the IDP and budget-related policies, and the consultative processes required in the approval of the budget;
  - when preparing the annual budget, take into account the Municipality's IDP, the national budget, provincial budget, the National Government's fiscal and macro-economic policies, and the annual Division of Revenue Act
  - d. take all reasonable steps to ensure that the Municipality revises its IDP in line with realistic revenue and expenditure projections for future years;
  - e. consult the district municipality (if it is a local municipality) and all other local municipalities in the district;
  - f. consult the National Treasury when requested, the Provincial Treasury, and such other provincial and national organs of state as may be prescribed;
  - g. provide, on request, any budget-related information to the National Treasury, other national and provincial organs of state, and any other municipality affected by the budget.

### Section 22: Publication of Annual Budgets

- 6.18 Immediately after the annual budget has been tabled, the Municipal Manager must make this budget and other budget-related documentation public, and must invite the local community to submit representations in regard to such budget.
- 6.19 The Municipal Manager must also immediately submit the tabled budget in both printed and electronic formats to the National Treasury, the Provincial Treasury, and in either format to prescribed national and provincial organs of state and other municipalities affected by the budget.

#### Section 23: Consultations on Tabled Budgets

- 6.20 After the budget has been tabled, the Council of the Municipality must consider the views of the local community, the National Treasury, the Provincial Treasury, and any provincial or national organs of state or municipalities which have made submissions on the budget.
- 6.21 After considering these views, the Council must give the Mayor the opportunity to respond to the submissions received, and if necessary revise the budget and table the relevant amendments for consideration by the Council.
- 6.22 The National Treasury may issue guidelines on the manner in which the Council must process the annual budget, including guidelines on the formation of a committee of the Council to consider the

budget and hold public hearings. Such guidelines shall be binding only if they are adopted by the Council.

# Section 24: Approval of Annual Budgets

- 6.23 The Council must consider approval of the budget at least thirty days before the start of the financial year to which such budget relates.
- 6.24 The budget must be approved before the start of such financial year, and the resolutions and performance objectives referred to in Section 17 must simultaneously be adopted.

# Section 25: Failure to Approve Budget Before the Start of the Budget Year

- 6.25 If a municipal council fails to approve an annual budget, including revenue raising measures necessary to give effect to the budget, the Council must reconsider the budget and again vote on the budget or on an amended version thereof within seven days of the council meeting that failed to approve the budget.
- 6.26 This process must be repeated until a budget, including revenue-raising measures necessary to give effect to the budget, is approved.
- 6.27 If a municipality has not approved an annual budget, including revenue-raising measures necessary to give effect to the budget, by the first day of the budget year the Mayor must immediately request intervention by the Provincial MEC for local government.

# Section 26: Consequences of Failure to Approve Budget before the Start of the Budget Year

- 6.28 The Provincial Executive must intervene in any municipality which has not approved its annual budget by the start of the relevant financial year. Such intervention must entail the taking of any appropriate steps to ensure a budget is approved, including dissolving the Council and appointing an administrator until a new Council can be elected, and approving a temporary budget until such new Council can adopt a permanent budget for the Municipality.
- 6.28 The Section also imposes restrictions on what may be spent in terms of such temporary budget.

# Section 27: Duties of the Mayor in the Event He Becomes Aware of Non- compliance with Budgeting Requirements.

- 6.29 This Section sets out the duties of the Mayor to report any impending noncompliance and the general consequences of non-compliance with the requirements of the various foregoing prescriptions.
  - a. The Mayor of a Municipality must, upon becoming aware of any impending non-compliance by the Municipality of any provisions of this Act or any other legislation pertaining to the tabling or approval of an annual budget or compulsory consultation processes, inform the MEC for Finance in the province, in writing, of such impending non-compliance.
  - b. If the impending non-compliance pertains to a time provision, except section 16(1), the MEC for Finance may, on application by the Mayor and on good cause shown extend any time limit or

deadline contained in that provision, provided that no such extension may compromise compliance with section16 (1). An MEC for Finance must in exercising the powers contained in this subsection promptly notify the National Treasury, in writing, of any extensions given in terms of this subsection, together with the name of the Municipality and the reasons.

- c. The Mayor of a municipality must, upon becoming aware of any actual non-compliance by the Municipality of a provision of this Chapter inform the Council, the MEC for Finance and the National Treasury, in writing of such non-compliance; and any remedial or corrective measures the Municipality intends to implement..
- d. Non-compliance by a municipality with a provision of this Chapter relating to the budget process or a provision in any legislation relating to the approval of a budget-related policy, does not affect the validity of an annual or adjustments budget.
- e. The Provincial Executive may intervene in terms of the appropriate provision of section 139 of the Constitution, 1996, if a municipality cannot or does not comply with the provision of this Chapter, including a provision relating to process.

# Section 28: Municipal Adjustments Budgets

- 6.30 A municipality may revise its annual budget by means of an adjustments budget.
- 6.31 However, a municipality must promptly adjust its budgeted revenues and expenses if a material undercollection of revenues arises or is apparent.
- 6.32 A municipality may appropriate additional revenues which have become available but only to revise or accelerate spending programmes already budgeted for.
- 6.33 A municipality may in such adjustments budget, and within the prescribed framework, authorize unforeseen and unavoidable expenses on the recommendation of the Mayor.
- 6.34 A municipality may authorize the utilization of projected savings on any vote towards spending under another vote.
- 6.35 Municipalities may also authorize the spending of funds unspent at the end of the previous financial year, where such under-spending could not reasonably have been foreseen at the time the annual budget was approved by the Council.
- 6.36 Only the Mayor of the Municipality may table an adjustments budget. Such budget may be tabled whenever necessary, but limitations on the timing and frequency of such tabling may be prescribed.
- 6.37 An adjustments budget must contain all of the following:
  - a. an explanation of how the adjustments affect the approved annual budget;
  - b. appropriate motivations for material adjustments; and
  - c. an explanation of the impact of any increased spending on the current and future annual budgets.
- 6.38 Municipal taxes and tariffs may not be increased during a financial year except if required in terms of a

financial recovery plan.

#### Section 29: Unforeseen and Unavoidable Expenditure

- 6.39 With regard to unforeseen and unavoidable expenses, the following apply:
  - a. the Mayor may authorize such expenses in an emergency or other exceptional circumstances;
  - b. the Municipality may not exceed a prescribed percentage of the approved annual budget in respect of such unforeseen and unavoidable expenses;
  - c. these expenses must be reported by the Mayor to the next Council meeting;
  - d. the expenses must be appropriated in an adjustments budget; and
  - e. the adjustments budget must be passed within sixty days after the expenses were incurred.

#### **Section 30: Unspent Funds**

The appropriation of funds in an annual or adjustments budget will lapse to the extent that they are unspent by the end of the relevant budget year, but except for the expenses referred to above in Section 16.

# Section 31: Shifting of Funds Between Multi-year Appropriations

- 6.41 If the funds for a capital project have been appropriated for more than one financial year (see Section 16) these expenses may exceed the appropriation for any one financial year, provided:
  - a. the increase is not more than 20% of that financial year's allocation;
  - b. the increase is funded in the next financial year's appropriations;
  - c. the Municipal Manager certifies that actual revenues are expected to exceed budgeted revenues, and that enough funds will be available to finance such increased appropriation without incurring further borrowing beyond the annual budget limit;
  - d. the Mayor gives prior written approval for such increased appropriation; and
  - e. all the above documentation is provided to the Auditor-General.

### Section 32: Unauthorized, Irregular or Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

6.42 The Municipality may authorize previously unauthorized expenses in an adjustments budget thus approving such expenditure.

# Section 33: Contracts Having Future Budgetary Implications

6.43 Contracts extending beyond one financial year may be entered into by a municipality, but if such contract extends beyond the three years covered in the annual budget, the Municipality may enter into such

#### contract only if:

- a. The Municipal Manager, at least sixty days before the Council meeting at which the contract is to be approved, has made the contract public, with an information statement summarizing the Municipality's obligations, and inviting the local community and other interested parties to submit comments or make representations.
- b. The Municipal Manager solicits the views and recommendations of the National Treasury and Provincial Treasury in respect of such contract, as well as those of the National Department of Provincial and Local Government, and any national department concerned with water, sanitation or electricity, if the contract relates to any of these services.
- c. The Council has taken into account the projected financial obligations in regard to such contract, the impact on tariffs, and the views and comments received from all the foregoing parties.
- d. The Council adopts a resolution determining that the Municipality will secure a significant capital investment or derives a significant financial or economic benefit from the contract, and approves the entire contract exactly as it is to be executed.
- A contract for purposes of this Section shall exclude any contract relating to the incurring of long-term debt by the Municipality, employment contracts, contracts for categories of goods as may be prescribed, or contracts where the value of the contract is less than a prescribed value or a prescribed percentage of the annual budget.

### Section 42: Price Increases of Bulk Resources for Provision of Municipal Services

- 6.45 National and provincial organs of state which supply water, electricity or any other bulk resources to municipalities or municipal entities for the provision of municipal services may increase the price of such resources only after doing all the following:
  - a. The proposed increase must be submitted to the organ's executive authority and (where legislation so requires) to any regulatory agency for approval.
  - b. At least forty days prior to the above submission the National Treasury and organized local government must be invited to submit written comments on the proposed increase.
  - c. The executive authority, after taking into account the comments received, must table the price increase in Parliament or the Provincial Legislature, as the case may be, with a full motivation and certain other prescribed explanatory documentation.
- 6.46 Unless the Minister of Finance otherwise directs, a price increase must be tabled on or before 15 March to take effect from 1 July of the same year. If it is tabled after 15 March it may only take effect from 1 July of the following year.

# Section 43: Applicability of Tax and Tariff Capping on Municipalities

6.47 If a national or provincial organ of state is legislatively empowered to determine the upper limits of any municipal tax or tariff, such determination takes effect on the date specified in the determination, but provided that, unless the Minister of Finance otherwise directs:

- a. A determination promulgated on or before 15 March shall not take effect before 1 July of the same year.
- A determination promulgated after 15 March shall not take effect before 1 July of the following vear.
- c. A determination shall not be allowed to impair a municipality's ability to meet any annual or periodic escalations in the payments it must make in respect of any contract legally entered into by a municipality.

# Section 53: Budget Processes and Related Matters

- 6.48 The Mayor of the Municipality must:
  - a. Provide general political guidance over the annual budget process and the priorities that guide the preparation of each budget.
  - b. Co-ordinate the annual revision of the IDP, as well as the preparation of the annual budget, and determine how the IDP is to be taken into account or is to be revised for purposes of such budget.
  - c. Take all reasonable steps to ensure that the Council approves the annual budget before the start of the financial year to which it relates, and that the Municipality's Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan is approved within twenty-eight days after the approval of the budget.
  - d. Ensure that the annual performance agreements for the Municipal Manager and the senior managers of the Municipality are linked to measurable performance objectives which are approved with the budget and the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan.
- 6.49 The Mayor must promptly report to the Council and the MEC for Local Government any delay in tabling the annual budget, approving the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan or signing the annual performance agreements.
- The Mayor must further ensure that the service delivery targets and quarterly performance indicators, and the monthly projections of revenues and expenses in the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan, are made public not later than fourteen days after these matters have been approved; and that the performance agreements of the Municipal Manager and other senior officials are similarly made public not later than fourteen days after their approval.

# **Section 68: Budget Preparation**

6.51 The Municipal Manager must assist the Mayor in performing the assigned budgetary functions and must provide the Mayor with administrative support, operational resources and the information necessary to perform these functions.

# Section 69: Budget Implementation

- 6.52 The Municipal Manager is responsible for implementing the budget, and must take reasonable steps to ensure that:
  - a. funds are spent in accordance with the budget;
  - b. expenses are reduced if expected revenues are less than projected; and
  - c. revenues and expenses are properly monitored.
- 6.53 The Municipal Manager must prepare any adjustments budget when such budget is necessary and submit it to the Mayor for consideration and tabling in Council.
- 6.54 The Municipal Manager must submit a draft Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan to the Mayor fourteen days after the annual budget has been approved, and must also within the same period submit drafts of the annual performance agreements to the Mayor.

# Section 70: Impending Shortfalls, Overspending and Overdrafts

6.55 The Municipal Manager must report in writing to the Council any impending shortfalls in the annual revenue budget, as well as any impending overspending, together with the steps taken to prevent or rectify these problems.

# **Section 71: Monthly Budget Statements**

- 6.56 The Municipal Manager must, not later than ten working days after the end of each calendar month, submit to the Mayor and Provincial Treasury a report in the prescribed format on the state of the Municipality's budget for such calendar month, as well as on the state of the budget cumulatively for the financial year to date.
- 6.57 This report must reflect the following:
  - a. actual revenues per source, compared with budgeted revenues;
  - b. actual expenses per vote, compared with budgeted expenses;
  - c. actual capital expenditure per vote, compared with budgeted expenses;
  - d. actual borrowings, compared with the borrowings envisaged to fund the capital budget;
  - e. the amount of allocations received, compared with the budgeted amount;
  - f. actual expenses against allocations, but excluding expenses in respect of the equitable share;
  - g. explanations of any material variances between the actual revenues and expenses as indicated above and the projected revenues by source;
  - h. expenses by vote as set out in the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan;

- i. the remedial or corrective steps to be taken to ensure that the relevant projections remain within the approved or revised budget; and
- j. projections of the revenues and expenses for the remainder of the financial year, together with an indication of how and where the original projections have been revised.
- 6.58 The report to the National Treasury must be both in electronic format and in a signed written document.

# Section 54: Budgetary Control and Early Identification of Financial Problems

- 6.59 On receipt of the report from the Municipal Manager, the Mayor must:
  - a. consider the report;
  - check whether the budget has been implemented in accordance with the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan;
  - issue appropriate instructions to the Municipal Manager to ensure that the budget is implemented in accordance with this Plan, and that the spending of funds and the collection of revenues proceed in accordance with the approved budget;
  - d. identify any financial problems facing the municipality, as well as any emerging or impending financial problems; and
  - e. submit to the Council within thirty days of the end of each quarter a report on the implementation of the budget and the financial state of affairs of the Municipality.
- 6.60 If the Municipality faces any serious financial problems, the Mayor must:
  - a. promptly respond to and initiate the remedial or corrective steps proposed by the Municipal Manager, and
  - b. alert the MEC for Local Government and the Council of the Municipality to the problems concerned.
- The Mayor may revise the details of the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan, but any revisions to the service delivery targets and quarterly performance indicators must be approved by the Council, and be supported by an adjustments budget. Any changes made to the projections of revenues and expenses as set out in the plan must promptly be made public.

# Section 55: Report to Provincial Executive if Conditions for Provincial Intervention Exist

6.62 If the Council has not approved its annual budget by the first day of the financial year to which it relates, or if the Municipality encounters serious financial problems, the Mayor must immediately report this matter to the MEC for Local Government and may recommend a provincial intervention.

# Section 72: Mid-year Budget and Performance Assessment

6.63 The Municipal Manager must assess the budgetary performance of the Municipality for the first half of the financial year, taking into account all the monthly budget reports for the first six months, the service

- delivery performance of the Municipality as against the service delivery targets and performance indicators which were set in the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan, and the past financial year's annual report and the progress made in resolving problems identified in such report.
- The Municipal Manager must then submit a report on such assessment to the Mayor, the National Treasury and the Provincial Treasury.
- 6.65 The Municipal Manager may in such report make recommendations for adjusting the annual budget and for revising the projections of revenues and expenses set out in the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan.
- 6.66 In terms of Section 54(1) (f) the Mayor must promptly submit this assessment report to the Council of the Municipality.

#### Section 73: Reports on Failure to Adopt or Implement Budget-related and other Policies

6.67 The Municipal Manager must inform the Provincial Treasury, in writing, of any failure by the Council to adopt or implement any budget-related policy or a supply chain management policy, and of any non-compliance by an office bearer or political structure with such policy.

# Section 75: Information to be Placed on Websites of Municipalities

- 6.68 The Municipal Manager must place on the Municipality's official website (interalia) the following:
  - a. the annual and adjustments budgets and all budget-related documents;
  - b. all budget-related policies;
  - c. the annual report;
  - d. all performance agreements;
  - e. all service delivery agreements;
  - f. all long-term borrowing contracts;
  - g. all quarterly reports submitted to the Council on the implementation of the budget and the financial state of affairs of the Municipality.

#### Section 80: Establishment of Municipal Budget and Treasury Office

6.69 Every municipality must have a budget and treasury office comprising a Chief Financial Officer, supported by appointed officials and contracted staff.

#### Section 81: Role of Chief Financial Officer

6.70 The Chief Financial Officer is administratively in charge of the budget and treasury office and must, inter alia.

- a. assist the Municipal Manager in preparing and implementing the budget;
- b. perform such budgeting, financial reporting and financial management and review duties as are delegated by the Municipal Manager;
- c. account to the Municipal Manager for the performance of all the foregoing responsibilities.

#### Section 83: Competency Levels of Professional Financial Officials

6.71 The Municipal Manager, senior managers, the Chief Financial Officer and the other financial officials in a municipality must all meet prescribed financial management competency levels.

# **RESPONSIBILITIES IN PREPARING THE BUDGET**

- 7.1 Whilst the Municipal Manager is accountable and responsible overall, the Chief Financial Officer and, if applicable, a Councilor responsible for financial matters, are responsible for compiling the Municipality's consolidated draft annual budget.
- 7.2 This matter also receives the attention of the Municipality's Finance Committee and ultimately the Council.
- 7.3 According to Section 81of the MFMA the Chief Financial Officer is administratively in charge of the budget and treasury office and must, *inter alia*,
  - a. assist the Municipal Manager in preparing and implementing the budget;
  - b. perform such budgeting, financial reporting and financial management and review duties as are delegated by the Municipal Manager; and
  - c. account to the Municipal Manager for the performance of all the foregoing responsibilities.

#### 8 PREPARATION OF THE BUDGET

- 8.1 Without derogating in any way from the legal responsibilities of the Municipal Manager as accounting officer, the Chief Financial Officer shall be responsible for preparing the annual capital and operating budgets (including the budget components required for the ensuing financial years), any required adjustments budgets, the projections of revenues and expenses for the Service Delivery and Budget Implementation Plan (including the alignment of such projections with the cash management programme prepared in terms of the investments policy), and shall be accountable to the Municipal Manager in regard to the performance of these functions.
- 8.2 The Municipal Manager shall ensure that all heads of departments provide the inputs required by the Chief Financial Officer into these budget processes.
- 8.3 The Chief Financial Officer shall draft the budget timetable for the ensuing financial year for the Executive Mayor's approval, and shall indicate in such timetable the target dates for the draft revision of the annual budget and the preparation of the annual budget for the ensuing financial year, which target dates shall follow the prescriptions of the Municipal Finance Management Act, and target dates for the submission of all the budget related documentation to the Executive Mayor, Finance Committee, Mayoral Committee and Council.

- 8.4 Except where the Chief Financial Officer, with the consent of the Executive Mayor and Municipal Manager, decides otherwise, the sequence in which each annual budget and adjustments budget shall be prepared, shall be: first, the capital component, and second, the operating component. The operating component shall duly reflect the impact of the capital component on:
  - a. depreciation charges
  - b. repairs and maintenance expenses
  - c. interest payable on external borrowings
  - d. other operating expenses.
- 8.5 In preparing the operating budget, the Chief Financial Officer shall determine the number and type of votes to be used and the line-items to be shown under each vote, provided that in so doing the Chief Financial Officer shall properly and adequately reflect the organizational structure of the Municipality, and further in so doing shall comply in so far as the organizational structure permits also with the prescribed budget format of National Treasury.
- 8.6 The Chief Financial Officer shall determine the depreciation expenses to be charged to each vote, the appropriate notes of interest payable to the appropriate votes, the estimates of withdrawals from (claims) and contributions to (premiums) the self-insurance reserve, and the contributions to the provisions for impairment of debtors, and accrued leave entitlements.
- 8.7 The Chief Financial Officer shall further, with the approval of the Executive Mayor and the Municipal Manager, determine the recommended contribution to the asset financing reserve and any special contributions to the self-insurance reserve.
- 8.8 The Chief Financial Officer shall also, again with the approval of the Executive Mayor and the Municipal Manager; and having regard to the Council's current financial performance, determine the recommended aggregate growth factor(s) according to which the budgets for the various votes shall be drafted.
- 8.9 The Chief Financial Officer shall compile monthly budget reports, with recommendations, comparing actual results with budgeted projections, and the heads of departments shall timeously and adequately furnish the Chief Financial Officer with all explanations required for deviations from the budget.
- 8.10 The Chief Financial Officer shall submit these monthly reports to the Executive Mayor, Finance Committee and Mayoral Committee in accordance with the prescriptions of the Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act 56 of 2003).
- 8.11 Chief Financial Officer shall provide technical and administrative support to the Accounting Officer and Executive Mayor in the preparation and approval of the annual and adjustment budgets, as well as in the consultative processes which must precede the approval of such budgets.
- 8.12 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that the annual and adjustments budgets comply with the requirements of the National Treasury, reflect the budget priorities determined by the Executive Mayor, are aligned with the IDP, and comply with all budget-related policies, and shall make recommendations to the Executive Mayor on the revision of the IDP and the budget-related policies where these are indicated.

- 8.13 The Chief Financial Officer shall make recommendations on the financing of the capital budget for the ensuing and future financial years, indicating the impact of viable alternative financing scenarios on future expenses, and specifically commenting on the relative financial merits of internal and external financing options.
- 8.14 The Chief Financial Officer shall determine the basis for allocating overhead expenses not directly chargeable to votes. The expenses associated with the democratic process shall be allocated to a separate vote, and shall not be charged out as an overhead.
- 8.15 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that the cost of indigent support programmes is separately reflected in the appropriate votes.
- 8.16 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that the allocations from other organs of state are properly reflected in the annual and adjustments budget, and that the estimated expenses against such allocations (other than the equitable share) are appropriately recorded.

# 9 BUDGET VIREMENT

#### 9.1 Financial Responsibility

The Chief Financial Officer has a statutory duty to ensure that adequate policies and procedures are in place to ensure an effective system of financial control.

Budget Virement is one of those controls (Section 27 (4) MFMA)

It is the responsibility of each head of a department to which funds are allotted, to plan and conduct assigned operations so as not to expend more funds than budgeted.

In addition, they have the responsibility to identify and report any irregular or fruitless and wasteful expenditure in terms of the MFMA sections 78 & 102.

#### 9.2 Mscoa Functions

The Mscoa functions is used to divide the budget into segments and the council then approves the budget according to these functions via a resolution.

The Mscoa functions is to facilitate greater accountability for senior managers and in turn having a positive change on the level of service delivery.

Each and every cost centre of the municipality is linked to a function and sub-function depending on the definition.

Virements can be done within or between functions.

#### 9.3 Virement Restrictions

- a) No funds can be transferred between the different types of budgets (E.g. virements can only be made from basic capital to basic capital and operating to operating)
- No virement may be made where it would result in over expenditure of line item (Section 32 MFMA)
- c) No virement shall create new capital projects without the approval of the Municipal Council.
- d) If the virement relates to an increase in the work force establishment, then the Council's existing recruitment policies and procedures will apply.
- e) Virement cannot be permitted on the following non-cash items
  - i. Depreciation and amortisation

- ii. Debt Impairment
- iii.
- İ٧.
- f) Virement cannot be permitted on the following cash items
  - (i) Personnel expenditure
  - (ii) Bulk purchases
  - (iii) Interest charges
  - (iv) Revenue forgone
- g) An approved virement does not give expenditure authority and all expenditure resulting from approved virements still be subject to the procurement supply chain management policy of Council.
- h) Virements may not be made between Expenditure and Revenue.

# 10 REVIEW OF POLICY

This policy shall be implemented at a date set by council and shall be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it is in line with the municipality's strategic objectives and with legislation.

# 11 ANNEXURES

- 11.1 Budget Virement Procedures
- 11.2 Budget Virement Request forms

# 12 IMPLEMENTATION

This Budget Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on: 31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr: 38/05/2018

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# MUNICIPAL PROPERTY RATES POLICY POLICY

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON:31/05/2018 IMPLEMENTATION DATE:01/07/2018

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	42
2	LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT	43
3	DEFINITIONS	43
4	THE PURPOSE OF THIS POLICY	54
5	FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF THIS RATES POLICY	54
6	APPLICATION OF THIS RATES POLICY	55
7 RES	DISCRETIONARY RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE MUNICIPALITY WITH SPECT TO LEVYING OF RATES	55
8	CATEGORIES OF PROPERTIES FOR DIFFERENTIAL RATING PURPOSES	56
9	RELIEF MEASURES FOR PROPERTY OWNERS	60
10	RECOVERY AND PAYMENT OF RATES	64
11	VALUATION ROLL EXTRACTION	64
12	REPORTING	64
13	DISCLAIMER	65
1/	IMPLEMENTATION	65

#### Introduction

#### Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "be a developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities.

Council is committed to its mission to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### The Values of the Council are:

Consultation
Service Standards
Access
Courtesy
Information
Transparency
Redress
Value for money
Responsiveness

#### **Vision**

"A secure environment with sustainable development to promote service excellence, unity and community participation resulting in a caring society

# **Mission**

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

# **Legislative context**

- 1.1 In terms of Section 229 of the Constitution, a municipality may impose rates on property.
- 1.2 In terms of section 4(1) of the Municipal Systems Act, 2000 (Act 32 of 2000), a municipality has the right to finance the affairs of the municipality by imposing, inter-alia, rates on property
- 1.3 In terms of Section 62(1)(f)(ii) of the Local Government: Municipal Finance Act, 2003 (Act 56 of 2003), the Municipal Manager must ensure that the municipality has and implements a rates policy embodied in a by-law as per section 6 of the said Local Government: Municipal Property Rates Act.
- 1.4 The Municipal Property Rates Act, 2004 (Act no. 6 of 2004) (MPRA) provides the regulatory framework to which the municipality must comply with when imposing rates on the property, which includes but is not limited to:
  - 1.4.1 The adoption of a rates policy will be implemented and made effective by way of a Rates By-Law;
  - 1.4.2 Criteria for determination of categories of properties and deferential rates for each category of properties;
  - 1.4.3 Criteria to be applied for granting rates relief measures;
  - 1.4.4 Levying of rates in sectional title schemes;
  - 1.4.5 Appointment of a municipal valuer for preparation of a general valuation roll and supplementary valuation roll(s).

#### Definitions

All words and phrases in this Rates Policy shall have the same meaning and interpretation as assigned in terms of the said Municipal Property Rates Act and for this purpose lists hereunder the definitions used in the Act:

Unless the context indicates otherwise:

Act

Means the Local Government: Municipal Property Rates Act (Act 6 of 2004).

#### **Child Headed Household**

Means a household recognized as such in terms of section 137 of the Children's Amendment Act, 41 of 2007.

Means actual activities that are taking place on the property.

#### **Actual Use**

#### Agent

In relation to the owner of a property, means a person appointed by the owner of the property:

- (a) to receive rental or other payments in respect of the property on behalf of the owner; or
- (b) To make payments in respect of the property on behalf of the owner.

#### Agricultural property

In relation to the use of a property, means property that is used primarily for agricultural purposes but, without derogating from section 9, excludes any portion thereof that is use of the property for the purpose of ecotourism or for the trading in or hunting of game.

#### **Annually**

Means once every financial year.

#### Category

- (a) In relation to property, means a category of properties determined in terms of Section 8 of the Act; and
- (b) In relation to owners of properties, means a category of owners determined in terms of Section 15(2) of the Act;

# **Community services**

Means any services which the expenditure of rendering of such a service is financed from the revenue generated from property rates;

Means the date determined by the Municipality in terms section 31(1); Means a person who qualifies to receive relief in terms of the Social Services Act. 1992 (Act No. 59 of 1992) or has been certified as disabled by a medical practitioner;

### Disaster

Means a disaster within the meaning of the Disaster Management Act (57 of 2002); or any other serious adverse social or economic

condition.

#### **Effective date**

- (a) In relation to a valuation roll, means the date on which the valuation roll takes effect in terms of Section 32(1) of the Act; or
- (b) In relation to a supplementary valuation roll, means the date on which a supplementary valuation roll takes effect in terms of Section 78(2) (b) of the Act.

**Exclusion** 

In relation to a municipality's rating power, means a restriction of that power as provided for in Section 17 of the Act.

Exemption

In relation to the payment of a rate, means an exemption granted by a municipality in terms of Section 15 of the Act.

Financial year

Means the period starting from 1 July in each year to 30 June the following year.

**Income Tax Act** 

Means the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962)

Indigent household

Means an owner of property who is in permanent occupation of the property and qualifies for indigent relief in terms of the municipality's indigent policy, shall include state pensioner, childheaded household, disabled people, household without income or with income that falls within a certain threshold and medical boarded people;

Illegal use

Where any person uses land or buildings or causes it to be used in conflict with the provisions of the town planning scheme in operation.

# Land reform beneficiary

In relation to a property, means a person who:

- (a) acquired the property through:
  - (i) the Provision of Land and Assistance Act, 1993 (Act No. 126 of 1993); or

- (ii) the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No. 22 of 1944);
- (b) holds the property subject to the Communal Property Associations Act, 1996 (Act No. 28 of 1996); or
- (c) holds or acquires the property in terms of such other land tenure reform legislation as may pursuant to Section 25(6) and (7) of the Constitution be enacted after this Act has taken effect.

**Land Tenure right** 

Means an old order right or a new order right as defined in Section 1 of the Communal Land Rights Act, 2004.

Local community

In relation to a municipality:

- (a) means that body of persons comprising:
  - (i) the residents of the municipality;
  - (ii) the ratepayers of the municipality;
  - (iii) any civic organisations and nongovernmental, private sector or labour organisations or bodies which are involved in local affairs within the municipality; and
  - (iv) visitors and other people residing outside the municipality who, because of their presence in the municipality, make use of services or facilities provided by the municipality; and
- (b) Includes, more specifically, the poor and other disadvantaged sections of such body of persons.

**Local Municipality** 

Means a municipality that shares municipal executive and legislative authority in its area with a district municipality within whose area it falls, and which is described in Section 155(1) of the Constitution as a category B municipality. Establish in terms of section 12 of the Municipal Structures

Act No. 117 of 1998.

**Market Value** 

In relation to a property, means the value of the property determined in accordance with Section 46 of the Act;

Municipal Finance
Management Act (MFMA)

Means the Local Government: Municipal Finance Management Act No. 56 of 2003;

**Municipal Manager** 

Means a person appointed in terms of Section 82 of the Municipal Structures Act;

**Newly rateable property** 

Means any rateable property on which property rates were not levied before the end of the financial year preceding the date on which this Act took effect, excluding:

- (a) a property which was incorrectly omitted from a valuation roll and for that reason was not rated before that date;and
- (b) A property identified by the Minister by notice in the Gazette where the phasing in of a rate is not justified.

Non-profit organization (NPO)

Means any organization which is registered in terms of the Non-profit Organizations Act.

Means

Non-governmental organization (NGO)

Means any organization which is created by legal persons who are not part of the government.

Occupier

In relation to a property, means a person in actual occupation of a property, whether or not that person has a right to occupy the property;

Public service purposes

In relation to the use of property, means property owned and used by an organ of state as –

- (a) Hospitals or clinics
- (b) Schools, pre-school, early childhood development

Centre's or further education and training colleges:

- (c) National and provincial libraries and archives
- (d) Police stations
- (e) Correctional facilities; or
- (f) Courts of law.

Owner

- (a) In relation to a property referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition of property, means a person in whose name ownership of the property is registered in a register;
- (b) In relation to a right referred to in paragraph (b) of the definition of property, means a person in whose name the right is registered;
- (c) In relation to a land tenure right referred to in paragraph(c) of the definition of property , means a person in whose name the right is registered or to whom it was granted in terms of legislation; or
- (d) In relation to public service infrastructure referred to in paragraph (d) of the definition of property, means the organ of state which owns or controls that public service infrastructure as envisaged in the definition of "publicly controlled", provided that a person mentioned below may for the purposes of this Act be regarded by a municipality as the owner of a property in the following cases:
  - A trustee, in the case of a property in a trust excluding state trust land;
  - (ii) An executor or administrator, in the case of a property in a deceased estate;
  - (iii) A trustee or liquidator, in the case of a property in an insolvent estate or in liquidation;
  - (iv) A Judicial manager, in the case of a property in the

estate of a person under judicial management:

- (v) A curator, in the case of a property in the estate of a person under curatorship;
- (vi) A person in whose name a usufruct or other personal servitude is registered, in the case of a property that is subject to a usufruct or other personal servitudes; or
- (vii) A buyer, in the case of a property that was sold by a municipality and of which possession was given to the buyer pending registration of ownership in the name of the buyer;
- (viii) A lessee in the case of property that is registered in the name of the municipality and is leases by it.

#### Permitted use

In relation to a property, means the limited purposes for which the property may be used in

terms of:

- a) any restrictions imposed by:
  - (i) a condition of title:
  - (ii) a provision of a town planning or land use scheme; or
- any legislation applicable to any specific property or properties; or
- any alleviation of any such restrictions;

Person

Means natural and legal person including an organ of state.

**Prescribe** 

Means prescribe by regulation in terms of section 83 of the Act

Privately owned towns

Means single properties, situated in an area not ordinary being serviced by the municipality, divided through sub  ${\mathord{\text{--}}}$ 

divisions or township establishment units (ten or more) full title stands and/ or sectional units and where all services inclusive of water, electricity, sewerage and refuse removal and roads development are installed at the full cost of the developer and maintained and rendered by the residents of such estate or township.

# **Property**

#### Means:

- immovable property registered in the name of a person, including, in the case of a sectional title scheme, a sectional title unit registered in the name of a person;
- a right registered against immovable property in the name of a person, excluding a mortgage bond registered against the property;
- a land tenure right registered in the name of a person or granted to a person in terms of legislation; or
- d) public service infrastructure;

#### **Property Register**

Means a register of properties referred to in Section 23 of the Act.

# **Protected area**

Means an area that is or has to be listed in the register referred to in Section 10 of the Protected Areas Act.

#### **Protected Areas Act**

Means the National Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act, 2003

# **Publicly controlled**

Means owned by or otherwise under the control of an organ of state, including:

- a) a public entity listed in the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999);
- b) A municipality; or
- A municipal entity as defined in the Municipal Systems Act

# Public Benefit Organization Property

Means property owned by public benefit organizations and used for any specified public benefit activity listed in item 1 (welfare and humanitarian), item 2 (health care), and item 4 (education and development) of part 1 of the Ninth Schedule to the Income Tax Act

#### **Public Service Infrastructure**

Means publicly controlled infrastructure of the following kinds:

- a) National, provincial or other public roads on which goods
   , services or labour move across a municipal boundary;
- Water or sewer pipes, ducts or other conduits, dams, water supply reservoirs, water treatment plants or water pumps forming part of a water or sewer scheme serving the public;
- c) Power stations, power substations or power lines forming part of an electricity scheme serving the public.
- d) Gas or liquid fuel plants or refineries or pipelines for gas or liquid fuels, forming part of a scheme for transporting such fuels;
- e) railway lines forming part of a national railway system;
- f) Communication towers, masts, exchanges or lines forming part of a communication system serving the public;
- g) Runways or apron at national or provincial airports;
- h) Breakwaters, sea walls, channels, basins, quay walls, jetties, roads, railway or infrastructure used for the provision of water, lights, power, sewerage or similar services of ports, or navigational aids comprising lighthouses, radio navigational aids, buoys, beacons or any other device or system used to assist the safe and efficient navigation of vessels;

- i) Any other publicly controlled infrastructure as may be prescribed; or
- Rights of way, easements or servitudes in connection with infrastructure mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (i)

Rate

Means a municipal rate on property envisaged in section 229 (1) (a) of the Constitution;

Rateable property

Means a property on which a municipality may in terms of Section 2 levy a rate, excluding property fully excluded from the levying of rates in terms of Section 17 of the Act.

Rebate

In relation to a rate payable on a property, means a discount granted in terms of Section 15 of the Act on the amount of the rate payable on the property.

Reduction

In relation to a rate payable on a property, means the lowering in terms of section 15 of the Act of the amount for which the property was valued and the rating of that property at the lower amount.

Register

- a) means to record in a register in terms of -
  - (i) the Deeds Registries Act, 1937 (Act No. 47 of 1937);or
  - (ii) the Mining Titles Registration Act, 1967 (Act No. 16 of 1967); and
- b) Includes any other formal act in terms of any other legislation to record :
  - (i) a right to use land for or in connection with mining purposes; or
  - (ii) a land tenure right;

**Residential property** 

Means a property included in a valuation roll in terms of Section 48 (2) (b) in respect of which the primary use or permitted use is for residential purposes without derogating from section 9.

Sectional Titles Act

The Sectional Titles Act, 1986 (Act No. 95 of 1986)

**Sectional Title Properties:** 

Residential

This sectional title property, zoned residential, zoned special for residential use and used exclusively for residential

purposes shall be rates as Residential Property.

**Sectional Title Properties:** 

**Business** 

This category includes sectional Title properties that are zoned for business or have businesses operations shall be rates as Business Property.

**Sectional Title Properties:** 

**Agriculture** 

This category includes sectional title properties, zoned agricultural and used for agricultural purposes shall be rates as Agricultural Property.

Small, very small and micro

business

Means businesses as per the criteria set by the National Small Business Act No. 102 of 1996 schedule;

Special rating area

Means a geographic area within which property owners agree to pay for certain services supplementary to those supplied by the municipality. These services are financed by levying an additional rate, which is added to the rate in a rand of the property owners within the precinct;

Specified public benefit activity

An activity listed in item 1 (welfare and humanitarian), item 2 (health care) and item 4 (education and development) of Part 1 of the Ninth Schedule to the Income Tax Act.

State Trust Land

Means land owned by the state:

- a) in trust for persons communally inhabiting the land in terms of a traditional system of land tenure;
- over which land tenure rights were registered or granted;
   or
- c) which is earmarked for disposal in terms of the Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994 (Act No. 22 of 1994)

**The Municipality** Means the Emakhazeni Local Municipality;

Value of property Means the market value of the property as determined in terms

of the Act;

Vacant Land Means land, irrespective of zoning or category and in respect of which

the municipality has not issued an occupancy certificate, being

unimproved urban land.

#### THE PURPOSE OF THIS POLICY

#### The purpose of this policy is to:

- 4.1 Comply with the provisions of the Municipal Property Rates Act, specifically with section 3 thereof;
- 4.2 Give effect to the principles outlined hereunder;
- 4.3 Ensure the equitable treatment of persons liable for rates;
- 4.4 Determine the methodology and to prescribe procedures for the implementation of the Act;
- 4.5 Determine criteria to be applied for the le/vying of differential rates for different categories of properties;
- 4.6 Determine or provide criteria for the determination of categories of properties and categories of owners of properties;
- 4.7 Determine criteria to be applied for granting exemptions, rebates and reductions;
- 4.8 Determine how the municipality's powers must be exercised in relation to multiple use properties;
- 4.9 Determine measures to promote local economic and social development; and
- 4.10 Identify which categories of properties the municipality has elected not to rate as provided for in section 7 of the Act.

#### FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF THIS RATES POLICY

# The principles of the rates Policy are to ensure that:

5.1 The power of the municipality to impose rates on property within its area will not be exercised in a way that materially and unreasonably prejudices national economic policies, economic activities or the national mobility of goods, services, capital or labour as prescribed in terms of Section 229 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa;

- 5.2 All ratepayers, in a specific category, as determined by council from time to time, will be treated equitably;
- 5.3 Property rates will be assessed on the market value of all rateable properties in the jurisdiction of the municipality and for the purpose of generating revenue to balance the budget after taking into account:
  - 5.3.1 Profits generated on trading and economic services; and
  - 5.3.2 The amounts required to finance exemptions, rebates and reductions of rates as approved by the municipal council from time to time;
- 5.4 Property rates will not be used to subsidize trading and economic services;
- 5.5 The rates income generated by the municipality will take into account relief measures to address the social and economic needs of the community;
- 5.6 This rates Policy and amendment thereof will be developed in consultation with the community and in compliance with a process of community participation in terms of Chapter 4 of the Municipal Systems Act.

#### APPLICATION OF THIS RATES POLICY

#### Imposition of rates

- The council shall as part of each annual operating budget cycle, impose a rate in the rand on the market value of all rateable property as recorded in the municipality's valuation roll and supplementary valuation roll. Rateable property shall include a property on which the municipality may in terms of section 2 of the Act levy a rate, excluding property fully excluded from the levy of rates in terms of the Act.
- 6.2 When rates are levied in respect of a valuation in a supplementary valuation roll, and the rates on that valuation are levied for the first time, the liability to pay the rates vests on the first day of the month following the completion of the public inspection period
- 6.1 The council pledges itself to limit the annual increase if financially viable of the rate in the rand in accordance with the National Treasury guidelines and/or the approved integrated development priorities.

# DISCRETIONARY RESOLUTIONS ADOPTED BY THE MUNICIPALITY WITH RESPECT TO LEVYING OF RATES

# It is recorded that the Municipality has adopted the following resolutions:

- 7.1 To levy rates on all rateable property in its area of jurisdiction;
- 7.2 To levy different cents in the rand for different categories of rateable property as approved annual by council as part the annual budget;

- 7.3 That the categories of properties for the purpose of differential rating are those specified in this rates policy and By-Law document;
- 7.4 That the criteria for the categorization in terms of section 8(1) of the Act shall be actual use where a property is improved and vacant land shall be categorized according to the permitted use of the property. In case of a property used for multiple-purposes the categories shall be determined according to the actual uses of the property;
- 7.5 To rate public service infrastructure (excluding municipal public service infrastructure) that is identifiable and to which a market related value can be determined with the proviso that the municipality may extend this annually to include other identifiable entities as the data set is developed; and
- 7.6 To not rate properties of which the municipality is the owner, except where leased to a third party.

#### CATEGORIES OF PROPERTIES FOR DIFFERENTIAL RATING PURPOSES

8.1 For the purposes of differential rates, the following categories of rateable property have been determined, being:

#### 8.1.1 Residential Property (RES)

Means improved property that:

- (a) Is used for residential purposes including any adjoining property registered in the name of the same owner and used together with such residential property as if it were one property. Any such grouping shall be regarded as one residential property for rate rebate or valuation reduction purposes;
- (b) Is a unit registered in terms of the Sectional Title Act and used for residential purposes; or
- (c) Is owned by a Share block company and used solely for residential purposes
- (d) For the purpose of this rates policy, the following are excluded:

Hotels

Communes

Boarding and lodging undertakings

Guesthouses

Residential units used for timeshare and holiday letting

# 8.1.2 Business Property (BUS)

Means property that is used for business, commercial and schools (private & public) purposes.

#### 8.1.3 Agricultural Property (AGRI)

Means a property that is used primarily for agricultural purposes, but without derogating from section9, excludes any portion thereof that is used commercially for the hospitality of guests, and excludes the use of property for the purpose of eco-tourism or for the trading in or hunting of games.

# 8.1.4 Agricultural Residential Property (AGRI/Res)

Means a property that is used primarily for residential and agricultural purposes, but excludes any portion thereof that is used commercially for the hospitality of guests, and excludes the use of property for the purpose of eco-tourism or for the trading in or hunting of games.

# 8.1.5 Agricultural Business Property (AGRI/Buss)

Means a agricultural property that is used primarily for business operational purposes but, excludes any portion thereof that is used commercially for the hospitality of guests, and excludes the use of property for the purpose of eco-tourism or for the trading in or hunting of games.

#### 8.1.6 State owned /Government Property/Institutional (STATE)

Means property owned and used by the state excluding the kinds of publicly controlled infrastructure listed in the definition of Public Service Infrastructure.

#### 8.1.5 Public Service Infrastructure (PSI)

Means a property as defined by the Act.

# 8.1.7 Public Benefit Organization Property (PBO)/ Non-governmental organization (NGO)

Means property owned by public benefit organizations and used for any specified public benefit activity listed in item 1 (welfare and humanitarian), item 2 (health care), and item 4 (education and development) of part 1 of the Ninth Schedule to the Income Tax Act

# 8.1.8 Municipal property (MUN)

In relation to property shall mean those properties owned & exclusively used by the municipality;

#### 8.1.9 Places of Public Worship (CHC)

Means a property registered in the name of and used primarily as a place of worship by a religious community, including an official residence registered in the name of that

community which is occupied by an office bearer of that community who officiates at the services at that place of worship;

#### 8.1.10 Industrial (IND)

Means branch of trade or manufacturing, production, assembling or processing of finished or partially finished products from raw materials or fabricated parts, on so large scale that capital and labour are significantly involved. This includes factories as defined in the Machinery and Building Work Act, 22 of 1941, as amended and includes any office or other accommodation on the same erf, the use of which is incidental to the use of such factory.

#### 8.1.11 Mining

Means property used for mining operations (extracting any mineral on, in or under the earth, water or any residue deposit, whether by underground or open working or otherwise).

#### 8.1.12 Privately open space

Means property categorized as "Privately owned roads/parks/sport grounds" shall be rated as "residential", subject to stipulations of section 17(2)(b) of MPRA, were applicable.

# 8.1.13 Vacant Land

This category includes the following:

- (i) Land without a zoning, zoning unresolved, deproclaimed mining land and any undeveloped land/ erf within a proclaimed township or within a land development area.
- (ii) Land in this category shall not benefit from any exemption, reduction or rebate. Property will continue to be rated as vacant until such time as the Council issues a Certificate of Occupancy or final inspection.
- (iii) Vacant land owned by individual for development of residential property, if developed within the two year will be charged residential tariff backdated to year one. Owner of the land must apply to the Municipality for an adjustment
- (iv) The tariff applicable to vacant land will take precedence over the tariff applicable to the property category where such land is vacant except for (iii) and (iv). (iv) The rate applicable to vacant land will take precedence over the rate applicable to the category in which the property would have fallen had it not been vacant land.
- 9.2 Differential rating among the above determined categories of properties will be done by way of setting different rates in the rand for each property category.
- 9.3 The basis of categorization of properties for rating purposes does not permit any illegal usage of such properties.

- 9.4 The criteria for weighting the categories determined above, for the purpose of determining cent in a rand amount (rates tariff) for each category, must take account of the following:
  - 9.4.1 The reliance or otherwise of the owners of specific categories of property on the type of services supplied by the Municipality;
  - 9.4.2 The strategic importance of a category of property with reference to the aims and objectives of the municipality and the Government of the Republic of South Africa as a whole (such as social, economic and developmental issues); and
  - 9.4.3 The nature of the category of property, including its sensitivity to rating (for example agricultural properties used for agricultural purposes).
- 9.5 The following principles and section 9.4 above shall be applied for the determination of the cents in the rand:
- 9.5.1 Residential Property to Residential Property the ratio shall be 1:1;
- 9.5.2 Residential Property to Informal settlement the ratio shall be 1:1
- 9.5.3 Residential Property to Business, commercial and Schools Property the ratio shall be 1:3.2;
- 9.5.4 Residential Property to Industrial the ratio shall be 1:3.3;
- 9.5.5 Residential Property to Public Service Infrastructure Property the ratio shall be 1:0.25;
- 9.5.6 Residential Property to Agricultural Property the ratio shall be 1:0.25;
- 9.5.7 Residential Property to Agri/residential the ratio shall be 1:1;
- 9.5.8 Residential Property to Agri/busines the ratio shall be 1:1.18;
- 9.5.9 Residential Property to Vacant land irrespective of zoning the ratio shall be 1:3;
- 9.5.10 Residential Property to Privately open space 1:1;
- 9.5.11 Residential Property to Municipal property the ratio shall be 1:0.25;
- 9.5.12 Residential Property to Public open space the ratio shall be 1:0;
- 9.5.13 Residential Property to Mining ratio is currently not applicable, as fixed rate
- 9.5.14 Residential Property to Public Benefit Organization Property the ratio shall be 1:0.25;
- 9.5.15 Residential Property to Place of worship property the ratio shall be 1:0.25;
- 9.5.16 Residential Property to Private owned towns the ratio shall be 1:0.77;
- 9.5.17 Residential Property to State owned /Institutional Property the ratio shall be 1:3.2;

# PENALTIES FOR PROPERTY OWNERS

10.1 The municipality has considered the need to penalize certain owners of properties who use the properties for purposes other than for the purposes as categories on the valuation roll without applying for re – zoning.

10.2 The municipality will penalize the property owner's as a percentage of the market value as per the valuation roll as approved by Council under the tariff for Illegal Use of Land.

# RELIEF MEASURES FOR PROPERTY OWNERS

- 9.1 The Municipality has considered the need and desire to grant relief to a specific category of owners of properties and owners of a specific category of properties with a view to providing for appropriate measures to alleviate the impact of the rates burden on them.
- 9.2 The municipality will not grant relief in respect of the payment of rates other than by way of an exemption, rebate or reduction provided for in this policy and granted in terms of section 15 of the Act to:
  - 9.1.1 A specified category of properties; or
  - 9.1.2 A specified category of owners of property as provided for hereunder.
- 9.3 The municipality will **not** grant relief to the owners of property:
  - 9.3.2 On an individual basis.
  - 9.3.3 If the account is in arrears on the date of application.
- 9.4 The relief measures shall be granted as follows;
  - 9.4.2 Category of specific owners

# i) Rebates

All applications for rebates with supporting documentation should be submitted in writing to the Emakhazeni Finance offices, where upon it is subject to approval by the Chief Financial Officer.

(a) Indigent household	
Criteria	The owner should be registered in the indigent register in terms of the
	Indigent Policy of the municipality.
Rebate	The rebate on property rates shall 100% on the rates tariff being determined by the municipal council on annual basis during the budget process.
(b) Child headed households	

Qualification Criteria	To qualify for rebates on the head of the family must subject to the following:  (a) Must apply annually in a prescribed from.  (b) Must occupy the property as his/her normal residence.  (c) Must submit proof of the death of both parents.  (d) Must be younger than 18 years of age.  (e) Must be evaluated in terms of the indigent policy of council.  (f) still be a scholar or jobless; and  (g) be in receipt of a total monthly income from all sources not exceeding an amount to be determined annually by the Municipality as per the indigent policy  (h) The rebate will lapse upon:
	(i) the expropriation, sale or disposal of the property; (ii) the failure of the applicant to reside permanently on the property; (iii) death of the applicant; and
	(iv) when applicant is older than 18 years.
Rebate	The rebate on property rates shall 100% on the rates tariff being determined by the municipal council on annual basis during the budget process.
(c) Properties Owned by Pub Which includes;	lic Benefit Organizations/ Non profit organisation,
Home) and Humanitaria of part 1 of the Ninth Sc	specified public benefit activity listed in item 1 (Welfare) (Old Age In), item 2 (Health care), and item 4 (Education and Development) hedule to the Income Tax Act.  at Council may deem to be owned and exclusively used for public purpose of rebates.
Qualification criteria	Make an application in writing in a prescribed form annually;
	<ul> <li>Provide proof of ownership of the property and registration as a Non-Profit Organisation in terms of the Income Tax Act or registration as a Public Benefit Organisation in terms of the Income Tax Act conducting one or more of the above specified public benefit activities listed in Part 1 of the 9<sup>th</sup> Schedule;</li> <li>Submit an affidavit signed by the head of the organization before a Commissioner of Oaths that the property is used primarily for the specified public benefit activities and purposes of the organisation;</li> <li>that no private pecuniary profit is made from the property;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>and that no rent is received by the applicant for any use of the property by other persons; and</li> <li>Be in a position to submit audited annual financial statements.</li> </ul>
Rebate	The rebate on property rates shall 100% on the rates tariff being determined by the municipal council on annual basis during the budget process.
(d) Retired people	
Qualification Criteria	<ul><li>Make application in writing;</li><li>Must be registered in the name of retired person;</li></ul>

	<ul> <li>Must reside permanently on the property concerned</li> <li>Not own more than one property;</li> <li>Be at least 60 years of age;</li> <li>The combined income from all sources (including the spouses of the owner) may not exceed R132 000 per annum.</li> <li>Each application must be accompanied by the following certified documents:</li> <li>a) valid identity document;</li> <li>b) certified proof of pensionable income (payslip or documentary proof from pensionable institution);</li> <li>c) where no proof of pensionable income can be submitted, certified by bank statements for three(3) months with certification by bank that the account is the primary bank account.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Property must be categorized for residential purposes only in terms of the municipal valuation roll</li> <li>The rebates to be granted will be based in respect of the combined income in the preceding twelve (12) months average monthly earnings from date of application:</li> </ul>
Rebate	The rebate on property rates shall 30% on the rates tariff being determined by the municipal council on annual basis during the budget process.
	the rebate will lapse upon: (i) death of the applicant; (ii) alienation of the property; (iii) when the applicant ceases to reside permanently on the property ;and (iv) the combined income from all sources exceed R11 000.00, per month.

# 9.5 <u>Category of specific properties</u>

# i) Rebates

All applications for rebates with supporting documentation should be submitted in writing to the Emakhazeni Finance offices, where upon it is subject to approval by the Chief Financial Officer.

(a) Public Benefit Organization / Non profit organisation			
With no source	The rebate on property rates shall 100% on the rates tariff being determined by the		
of income	municipal council on annual basis during the budget process		
(Depending on			
Donations/			
Grants)			
(b) Informal Settlement			
Criteria	The property should classified as an informal settlement according to the Municipal		
	Valuation roll.		
Rebate	The rebate on property rates shall 100% on the rates tariff being determined by the		
	municipal council on annual basis during the budget process.		

# ii) Exemptions

(a) Residential Property	The first R15 000.00 of the market value of the property is exempted from levying of rates in terms of section 17(1)(h) of the Act.
(c) Public Services Infrastructure Property	Section 13 of the amendment acts amends s17(1) prohibits the rating of any property referred to in paragraphs (a)(b)(e)(g) and (h) of the definition of public service infrastructure, the rates levied on property referred to in subsection (1) must be phased in as follows  • in the first financial year a rebate of 20%; • in the second financial year a rebate of 40% of the rate; • in the third financial year a rebate of 60% of the rate; • and • in the fourth financial year a rebate of 80% of the rate • In the fifth financial year a rebate of 90% of the rate.
	• The first 30% of the market value of the property is exempted from levying of rates in terms of section 17(1)(a) of the Act as referred to in paragraphs (c)(d)(f)(i) and (j) of the definition of public service infrastructure
(d) Municipal Property	The property shall be 100% exempted from levying of rates
(e) Places of Worship, including an official residence registered in the name of the community	The property shall be 100% exempted from levying of rates.

# iii) Reductions

All applications for reduction with supporting documentation should be submitted in writing to the Municipal Manager, where upon it is subject to approval by the council.

(a) Properties Affected by a Disaster or other Serious Adverse Social or Economic Conditions			
Qualification	The owner of any category of property may make application for the consideration		
criteria	of a reduction in the municipal valuation of property as contemplated in section 15		
	of the Act, where it is contended that the market value of the property is being		
	affected by:		
	(a)	A disaster within the meaning of the Disaster Management Act (57 of	
		2002) section 23 (1)(a - c);	
Reduction	The relief provided will be in the form of a reduction in the municipal valuation of		
Granted	the property in relation to a certificate issued for this purpose by the municipal		
	valuer.		
	The resultant reduction in the quantum of the rates payable will be for the current		

financial year only and calculated on a pro-rata basis from the date of the disaster or adverse conditions to the end of the financial year.

Should the applicant consider that the conditions resulting in the granting of relief remain unaltered at the conclusion of the financial year in question, a further application may be lodged for the new financial year.

#### RECOVERY AND PAYMENT OF RATES

- 10.1 An owner of a ratable property shall be liable for a property rates account;
- 10.2 Property rates shall be recovered on a monthly basis over a twelve months period in equal installments, or can be recovered on an annual basis (if applied for by a category)
- 10.3 Owners of ratable properties liable for the payment of property rates account shall be furnished with a written municipal account on a monthly basis or yearly (depended on category); When transfer of property takes place, the incidence of property rates falls as a charge on the new owner from date of registration by the Registrar of Deeds
- 10.4 A person liable for a rate must furnish the municipality with an address where correspondence can be directed to
- 10.5 If a person has not received a written account, it remains the responsibility of the account holder to service the account and make the necessary inquiries from the municipality.
- 10.6 Payment of property rates are payable by the due date as specified on the invoice issued by the municipality.
- 10.7 Rates in arrears shall be recovered from the owner of the property;
- 10.8 The Credit Control and Debt Collection By-Law shall apply in cases where the property rates accounts are in arrears and interest charged.
- 10.9 The consolidation of property rates and services charge in one account and any appropriation of payments received shall be done by the municipality on a discretionary basis in accordance with the Credit Control and Debt Collection By-Law.

#### VALUATION ROLL EXTRACTION

- Any person may, within the period stated in the notice referred to in section 49(1)b) on payment of a reasonable fee, request the municipality during office hours to make extracts from the roll.
- Any person may, at any given time, will be charged a reasonable fee, request the municipality during office hours to make extracts from the roll.

#### REPORTING

The Municipal Manager must annually within two months from the end of a financial year table in Council according to section 15(3) and (4) of the Act with relation to that financial year the following:

- (i) such exemptions, rebates and reductions;
- (ii) exclusions referred to in section 17(1)(a), (e), (g), (h) and (i) of the Act; and
- (ii) the phasing-in discount granted in terms of section 21 of the act

#### DISCLAIMER

- Any rate to be levied on ratable property in terms of this policy or any section of applicable legislation and by way of oversight or any other error not levied, cannot be challenged on the basis of non-compliance with this policy, and must be paid in accordance with the required payment provision.
- 13.2 Where a ratepayer believes that the Council has failed to properly apply this policy and valuation roll he/she should raise the matter with the Municipal Manager within that financial year and supplementary valuation roll will apply on issues of valuation.

#### IMPLEMENTATION

The Property Rates Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on: 31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr:38/05/2018

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# FINANCIAL ASSET IMPAIRMENT POLICY

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON: 31/05/2018

**IMPLEMENTATION DATE: 1/07/2018** 

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	68
2	DEFINITIONS	. 68
3	OBJECTIVES	. 69
4	SCOPE	. 70
5	LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK	70
6	PRINCIPLES	. 70
7	PROCESS OF CALCULATING THE IMPAIRMENT	72
	PROFILING	
9	DELEGATION	. 73
10	REPORTING	. 73
11	ANNEXURES	. 74
12	IMPLEMENTATION	74

#### Introduction

#### Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "be a developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities.

Council is committed to its mission to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### The Values of the Council are:

Consultation
Service Standards
Access
Courtesy
Information
Transparency
Redress
Value for money
Responsiveness

#### **Vision**

"A secure environment with sustainable development to promote service excellence, unity and community participation resulting in a caring society

#### **Mission**

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### **Definitions**

Financial asset – is any asset that is:

- a) cash;
- b) A residual interest of another entity or c) a contractual right to:
- i. receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- ii. exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the entity;

**Financial instrument** — is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of another entity.

**Amortised cost** – The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

**Financial instruments** at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:

- (a) The entity designates at fair value at initial recognition in accordance with paragraph .17 of GRAP 104; or (b) Are held for trading.
- **Financial instruments** at cost are investments in residual interests that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Financial instruments at fair value comprise financial assets or financial liabilities that are:

- (a) Derivatives;
- (b) Combined instruments that are designated at fair value in accordance with paragraphs .20 or .21 GRAP104;
- (c) Instruments held for trading. A financial instrument is held for trading if:
  - (i) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near-term; or
  - (ii) on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term profittaking;
- (d) Non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated at fair value at initial recognition in accordance with paragraph .17 GRAP 104; and
- (e) Financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments at cost.

Financial year - 1 July to 30 June

**Impaired** — an account is impaired and impairment losses are incurred, if and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

**Impairment loss** — is the amount by which the carrying amount of a financial asset or group of financial assets exceeds its recoverable amount.

**Significant account -** Significance is arrived at by calculating the average debtor amount per geographical area e.g. All accounts for Dullstroom, all accounts for Belfast etc. Any amount above the average will be taken as a significant account.

#### **Objectives**

The objective of the policy document is to clearly define the responsibilities of the municipality in terms of the Municipal Finance Management Act No.56, 2003 in terms of the Impairment of Financial Assets in line with the accounting standards to ensure compliance.

This policy document addresses the following areas:

- assessing whether evidence exists indicating that a financial asset is impaired;
- The procedures required to determine the amount of an impairment loss.

#### Scope

This policy directs those officials who are charged with the accounting for financial assets and related purposes, regarding the impairment of financial instruments.

#### Legislative Framework

At its broadest level, the Municipal Finance Management Act No.56, 2003 endeavours "to secure sound and sustainable management of the fiscal and financial affairs of the municipalities and municipal entities by establishing norms and standards and other requirements"

In particular Chapter 8 of the Municipal Finance Management Act No.56, 2003 places the onus on the accounting officer to ensure that the municipality's assets and liabilities are valued in accordance with the accounting standards.

**GRAP 104 Financial Instruments** 

#### **Principles**

#### 6.1. Impairment of financial asset

Financial assets are reviewed annually for any evidence of impairment and any impairment loss is recognized immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance.

# 6.1.1. Assess for any evidence of impairment

A financial asset (or group of financial assets) is impaired only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset (or group of financial assets).

This assessment will be documented and recorded as part of the annual financial statements working papers, for review by the external auditors.

In making this assessment management may consider the following indicators as guidance for possible impairment:

- Significant financial difficulty experienced by the borrower/debtor;
- Delays in payments (including interest payments) or failure to pay/defaults;
- •• For economic or legal reasons, allowing disadvantaged customers who are experiencing financial difficulties to pay as and when they can. The entity would not otherwise have considered this concession. For example, allowing disadvantaged customers to pay their account when they can due to the fact water supplies to the customer is a basic human right;
- It is probable that the borrower/debtor will enter sequestration (bankruptcy) or other Financial reorganization;

- The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties;
- Observable data, for example historical data, indicating that there is a decrease in the estimated future cash flows that will be received (which can be measured reliably), from a group of financial assets (financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics grouped together) since the initial recognition of those assets. The decrease may not yet be identified for the individual financial assets in the group. These can include:
  - the payment status of borrowers/debtors in the group has deteriorated (e.g. an increased number of delayed payments); or
  - > National or local economic conditions that are in line with non-payments in the group (e.g. an increase in the unemployment rate in the geographical area of the borrowers/debtors, or adverse changes in market conditions that affect the borrowers/debtors in the group).
- Is the account in arrears for a period longer than the initial estimated repayment period
- accounts with arrears of over 90 days showing no repayments in the last financial year
- accounts handed over for collection
- •• any negative changes in the ability of debtors and borrowers to repay the amounts due to the municipality (example: an increased number of late payments)
- a breach in contract, such as a default in interest or capital payments

Management need not utilize all the indicators given above as guidance but only use the indicators to which management has sufficient information to make the assessment for possible or actual impairment. The information which management will utilize should adequately reflect the current status, relating to the collectability of the receivables.

# 6.1.2. Assessing for impairment of financial assets

The municipality assesses financial assets individually, when assets are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. Where no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed asset (whether individually significant or not), an entity includes the assets in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised, are not included in the collective assessment of impairment.

For collective assessment of impairment, as indicated above, assets with similar credit risk characteristics are grouped together. The credit risk characteristics should be indicative of the debtors" ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms.

Once an entity has concluded that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss, an entity should measure and record any impairment losses that arise in its financial statements through the reduction of the carrying amount of the financial assets or through an allowance account, whichever is appropriate.

# 6.1.3. Measurement of impairment

• Financial assets carried at amortized cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss shall be reversed either directly or by adjusting an allowance account. The reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that is not measured at fair value because the fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for similar financial assets.

#### Process of calculating the impairment

The process of calculating the impairment is to be elaborated in the procedure manual attached hereto as annexure A.

#### **Profiling**

**Council** will utilize the following profiling for the receivables of the municipality.

The matrix tables below are based on management's estimate of risk associated with the recoverability of the risk groups based on past experiences.

A scoring system is implemented within the impairment matrix, as can be seen in part 1. The points that can be awarded for a specific indicator vary between 0 and 8, 0 being no risk of impairment and 8 being the maximum (certain) risk of impairment. Based on management's judgement the scoring will vary between the risk groups as risk of recoverability may be higher for certain groups.

# 1. Part 1 - Scoring

- Determine the highest ageing bracket in which the consumer has a balance outstanding
- Based on the scoring matrix below allocate a point to that consumer account

Risk group	Area
100	Belfast
200	Dullstroom
300	Machado
400	Waterval Boven
500	Siyathuthuka
600	Emthonjeni
700	Emgwenya
800	Sakhelwe

Indicator	Business	Gov	Risk group 100	Risk group 200	Risk group 300	Risk group 400& 500	Risk group 600	Risk group 700& 800	Sundry debtors	Non- current receivable s
				Residential						
<u>&gt;</u> 360	5	3	7	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
180 days	4	3	6	7	7	7	8	8	8	8
150 days	3	2	5	6	6	6	7	7	7	7
120 days	3	2	4	5	5	5	6	6	6	6
90 days	2	2	3	4	4	4	5	5	5	5
60 days	1	1	2	3	3	3	4	4	4	4
30 days	1	1	1	2	2	2	3	3	3	3
current	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	2

Scoring	% to be
1	0%
2	0%
3	0%
4	20%
5	40%
6	60%
7	80%
8	100

- a. All Government, Municipal employees and municipal accounts, are not impaired regardless of the ageing
- b. All indigent accounts are 100% impaired

#### **Sundry Matters**

Council may from time to time implement an incentive scheme which may entitle debtors to a write off, as may be determined by Council

#### Delegation

The authority to approve the policy vest with the Council

#### Reporting

Management shall comply with the disclosure requirements for the annual financial statements in terms of paragraph 102 -132 of GRAP 104 Financial instruments.

#### **ANNEXURES**

**Impairment Procedures** 

#### **IMPLEMENTATION**

This Financial Asset Impairmnet Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on: 31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr: 38/05/2018

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# FREE BASIC SERVICES AND INDIGENT SUPPORT POLICY

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON:31/05/2018 IMPLEMENTATION DATE: 1/07/2018

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	77
2	DEFINITIONS	77
3	OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY	79
4	LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK	80
5	QUALIFICATION CRITERIA	80
6	ASSISTANCE AND REGISTRATION	81
7	EXTENT OF INDIGENT ASSISTANCE AND SUPPORT	83
8 CEN	INDIGENT HOUSEHOLDS IN BODIES CORPORATE AND RETIREMENT NTRES	84
9	PROCESS MANAGEMENT	85
10	MONITORING AND REPORTING	87
11	BUDGETING FOR INDIGENT SUPPORT SUBSIDY	87
12	COMMUNICATION AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT	88
13	APPEALS	88
14	OFFENCES	88
15	NOTICES AND DOCUMENTS	88
16	REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF POLICY	89
17	IMPLEMENTATION	89

# 2 INTRODUCTION

# 2.1 Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "be a developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities. Council is committed to its mission to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### The Values of the Council are:

Consultation
Service Standards
Access
Courtesy
Information
Transparency
Redress
Value for money
Responsiveness

# 1.2 Vision

A developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities

# 1.3 Mission

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

# 5 DEFINITIONS

"Child headed household" means a household where both parents are deceased and where all occupants of property are children of the deceased and are all under the legal age to contract for service and are considered as minors in law by the state;

"Council" means the Council of the Emakhazeni Local Municipality or any duly authorised Committee or an official delegated by the said Council;

"Gender" any reference to the one gender shall include reference to the other;

"Household" means as a registered owner or tenant with children who reside on the same premises;

"Household Income" means all sources of income being formal and/ or informal of nature including, but not restricted to, salaries, revenue generated, pensions, fixed deposits, investments, state subsidies and or grants, private financial support/contributions from outside the indigent household;

"Indigent" means any household which is responsible for the payment of services and rates, earning a combined gross income equivalent to or less than two times the Government pension grant as prescribed by the National Department of Social Development or in line with the National Indigence Framework issued by the Department Provincial and Local Government (DPLG), who qualify, according to the policy, for rebates/remissions support or a service subsidy. Examples hereof include pensioners, the unemployed and child headed families who are unable to fully meet their obligations for municipal services consumed and property taxes on their monthly accounts;

"Indigent Management System" means an electronic management system used by Emakhazeni Local Municipality for the management of the register of indigent households:

"Indigent debtor" means the head of an indigent household, inclusive of destitute indigents and indigents, being old age pensioners, the unemployed and households with a total monthly income as determined in this policy:

- a. who applies for the provision of services from the municipality;
- b. who makes application for indigent support in terms of this Policy;
- c. who shall be regarded as the representative of all members of his/her household; and
- d. which indigent household members shall not own any other fixed property other than the property for which the application is made, or hold fixed assets or investments.

"Indigent Households" shall include all individuals residing at the residential premises of the indigent debtor, inclusive of destitute indigents and indigents, by whom and for which application is made, which premises has access to municipal services;

"Municipality" means the Emakhazeni Local Municipality, a local municipality established in terms of Section 12 of the Local Government: Municipal Structures Act, No 117 of 1998, and includes any political structure, political office bearer, councillor, duly authorised agent or any employee acting in connection with this policy by virtue of a power vested in the municipality and delegated or sub-delegated to such political structure, political office bearer, councillor, agent or employee;

"Municipal Manager" means the Municipal Manager of the Emakhazeni Local Municipality or his/her nominee acting in terms of power delegated to him/her by the said Municipal Manager with the concurrence of the Council;

"Poverty" is defined with reference to a poverty line i.e. if a household earns gross income lower than a set amount that household and its members are deemed to be living in poverty;

"Programme officer" means an official duly authorized by the municipality, or an employee of a service provider appointed by the municipality, who is responsible to ensure that an assessment, screening and site visits are undertaken;

"Occupier" means the person who controls and resides on or controls and otherwise uses immovable property, provided that -

 a. the spouse of the owner of immovable property, which is used by such spouse or owner as a dwelling at any time, shall deemed to be the occupier thereof;  where both spouses reside on immovable property and one of them is an occupier thereof, the other shall also be deemed an occupier;

"Owner" in relation to immovable property, means -

- a. the person in whom is vested the legal title thereto provided that -
  - the lessee of immovable property which is leased for a period of not less than fifty years, whether the lease is registered or not, shall be deemed to be the owner thereof;
  - ii. the occupier of immovable property occupied in terms of a servitude or right analogous thereto shall be deemed the owner thereof.
- b. If the owner is deceased, insolvent, has assigned his or her estate for the benefit of his or her creditors, has been placed under curatorship by order of court or is a company being wound up or under judicial management, then the person in whom the administration of such property is vested as executor, administrator, trustee, assignee, curator, liquidator or judicial manager, as the case may be;
- c. If the owner is absent from the Republic or if his/her address is unknown to the municipality, then any person who as agent or otherwise receives or is entitled to receive the rent in respect of such property; or
- d. If the municipality is unable to determine who such person is, then the person who is entitled to the beneficial use of the property.

"Premises" includes any piece of land, external surface boundaries of which are delineated on:

- a. a general plan or diagram registered in terms of the Land Survey Act, No 8 of 1997 or in terms of the Deeds Registries Act, No 47 of 1937;
- b. a general plan registered in terms of the Sectional Titles Act, No 95 of 1956, and situated within the jurisdiction of the municipality;

"Rates" means any tax, duty or levy imposed on property by Council

"Vote" means:

- a. any of the main segments into which the budget of the municipality is divided for the appropriation of money for the different departments or functional areas of the municipality; and
- b. which specifies the total amount that is appropriated for the purposes of the department or functional area concerned.

As a developmental institution, the municipality needs to commit to supporting measures that assist and empower its community. It is accepted that large sections of the community cannot exist without intervention and it is therefore the duty of the municipality to support and to ensure that citizens are able to access their constitutional right to have access to a basic level of services.

# 6 OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY

The objectives of this policy are to ensure the following:

- That the Equitable Share received annually will be utilised for the benefit of the poor only and not to subsidise rates and service charges of those who can afford to pay;
- b. Link this policy with the municipality's Integrated Development Plan (IDP), Local Economic Development (LED) initiatives and poverty alleviation programmes;
- c. Promote an integrated approach to free basic service delivery;
- d. Engage the community in the development and implementation of this policy.
- e. The provision of basic services to the community in a sustainable manner within the financial and administrative capacity of the Council;
- f. The financial sustainability of free basic services through the determination of appropriate tariffs that contribute to such sustainability through cross subsidisation;
- g. Establishment of a framework for the identification and management of indigent households including a socio-economic analysis where necessary and an exit strategy;
- h. The provision of procedures and guidelines for the subsidisation of basic charges and the provision of free basic energy to indigent households; and
- i. Co-operative governance with other spheres of government.

# LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

This policy is designed and implemented within the framework of the following legislation:

- a) The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa
- b) Municipal Systems Act, No 32 of 2000
- c) Municipal Finance Management Act, No 56 of 2003
- d) Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, No 3 of 2000
- e) Promotion of Access to information Act, No 2 of 2000; and
- f) Property Rates Act, No 6 of 2004

# 8 QUALIFICATION CRITERIA

The qualification criteria for indigent support and the municipal services qualifying for such support shall be determined by the municipality from time to time. An indigent debtor shall qualify for consideration of indigent benefits in terms of the laid down procedures of Council, which are:

- a. The threshold for indigents should be kept at R3500 combined income per household taking into consideration the national minimum wage.
- The applicant should be a resident or owner at the premises for which application is made within the Municipality, receives municipal services and is registered as an account holder on the municipal financial system;
- c. The applicant should be a citizens of the Republic of South Africa in possession of a valid South African Identity Document;

- d. The account of a deceased estate may be subsidised if the surviving spouse or dependants of the deceased, who occupy the property, applies for assistance.
- e. For the purpose of determining the total household income of all applicants, the combined or joint gross income of all occupants/residents/dependants in such household shall be taken into account;
- f. Applicants and/or any occupant/resident/dependant of the debtor's household shall not own any other fixed property in addition to the property in respect of which indigent support is required from Council in terms of this Policy; and
- g. Applicants should be in possession of a service agreement with the Municipality in the name of the indigent debtor.

# 9 ASSISTANCE AND REGISTRATION

#### 6.1 Communication

The municipality will develop a Communication Strategy in terms of which communities will be informed and educated in order to have a clear understanding of this policy and its implementation. Regular information dissemination through ward committees, community based organisations and face-to-face contact by means of imbizo's will be undertaken to eliminate unrealistic expectations both in terms of qualifying for subsidy as well as service delivery in general.

#### 9.2 Application/Registration

A person applying for assistance must complete a Formal Indigent Support Application Form approved by the municipality. Such forms will be available at the pay points of all administrative units;

Applications must be accompanied by the following:

- a. A copy of the applicant's identity document;
- b. The latest municipal account:
- Documentary proof of income (as prescribed below), or an affidavit declaring lack of income and/or proof of registration as unemployed, plus bank statements (where applicable);
- d. Particulars of any other grants received by the accountholder;
- e. Proof of ownership of business or second properties.
- f. <u>Proof of income:</u> Applicants for indigent support must produce written proof acceptable to the Council of:
  - i. Household income/grants for each member of the household;
  - Employment status or low income or reduction in income of each member of the household;
  - iii. Inability to work of each member of the household; and All minor members of the household.

The above documentation should be current, i.e. not more than three months old, and should be submitted with the application form.

#### 9.3 The applicant shall agree to the following:

If required to appear personally before the designated official with the application form and documentation required for verification purposes;

To the installation of a prepaid electricity meter by Council which costs Council may recover by applying the applicable prepaid tariff;

To the installation of a water flow restrictor meter by Council;

To the valuation by the Municipal Valuer of the residential property for which application is made (applicable if applicant is owner);

Annual resubmission by the applicant of the application to Council on the anniversary of the granting thereof and/or on a date determined by Council and communicated to the applicant. Failure to comply herewith shall result in the debtor's indigent status being revoked;

That the onus shall be on the approved indigent debtor to inform the Council of any change in his status or personal household circumstances; and

Willingness to give consent for external scans and credit bureau checks.

# 9.4 Assessment and Screening of Applicants:

After the application / registration process all information must be verified by the Revenue Accountant as follow:

**Indigent Management Register** - the information on the municipality's Indigent Management System must be checked to determine whether an applicant is already registered within the system as well as to determine dates when these existing applicants should be reviewed;

**Data Capture** - the indigent registration data must then be captured in the Indigent Management Register as per application form;

**Verification - Site Visit** - the Indigent Management System must assign an application to a duly appointed official to perform an on-site verification, if necessary. If needed undertake house visits by Councillors, Ward Representatives, Council staff or Council's accredited agents to confirm the indigent's claim and living conditions. Where after the Revenue: Accountant must verify and assess the registration application, and make recommendations for acceptance of the application, or for further investigation which may include an external scan;

**Verification - External Scans** - an external scan of applicants recommended as suitable candidates support may be conducted with UIF, SARS, Department of Welfare, or Credit Bureau after the site visitation has been captured;

Where an indigent debtor is found to be living at a standard inconsistent with his indigent application or fails to allow access or provide any further information as may be required by the Council, such debtor's indigent benefits may be cancelled at Council's sole discretion retrospective to the date of approval;

Once the verification has been completed and confirmed by the Revenue Accountant and the relevant Ward Councillor, a recommendation should be forwarded to the Municipal Manager or Chief Financial Officer for approval. Only once approved by the Municipal Manager or Chief Financial Officer will the applicant qualify for Free Basic Service and Indigent Subsidy Support as may be prescribed; and

Re-evaluate all indigent households after a period of twelve months or such period as the Council may determine to enable the Council to assess the provision of continued basic services and indigent support to them.

# 10 EXTENT OF INDIGENT ASSISTANCE AND SUPPORT

7.1 Council shall annually, determine the overall subsidy for indigent and other debtors during council's budget process and within its financial constraints.

Indigent subsidies may be granted on:

- a. Rates:
- b. Water;
- c. Sewerage;
- d. Refuse Removal; and
- e. Electricity

All registered indigent households will, on approval, be designated as Indigent, and shall be charged the determined economical tariff or charge for a service applicable to their designation.

The indigent households' monthly account will be credited with the amount of the indigent subsidy as determined by the Council budget according to their designation.

7.2 An indigent household shall qualify to receive subsidised services on the following terms and conditions:

# **Property Rates**

All owners of residential properties or properties used for multiple purposes, provided one or more components of the property are used for residential purposes would receive a reduction on the rateable value of the property as provided for in section 17 (1)(h) of the Property Rates Act No. 6 of 2004;

An indigent owner who resides in a property which value exceeds the exemption amount, shall be subsidised for property rates in full; and

All other rebates, reductions and exemptions provided in terms of council's Rates Policy shall also applicable.

# Water

All metered domestic consumers shall receive the allocated 6kl free water as determined by National Government:

If the water supply was disconnected prior to the debtor applying for indigent support the water reconnection would be made free of charge; and

The basic and availability charge for metered and un-metered indigence consumers as determined annually by Council shall be subsidized in full.

#### **Electricity**

All indigence consumers shall receive the allocated 50KwH Free Basic Electricity as determined by National Government;

Free Basic Electricity shall be dispensed as determined by Council where Council is the service provider;

Free Basic Electricity shall be dispensed as determined by Council and ESKOM, where Council is not the service provider;

The indigent consumers shall not carry over, from one month to another, the Free Basic Electricity subsidy or any portion thereof allocated which is not claimed. Free Basic Electricity subsidy not claimed, in any calendar month, will be forfeited; and

Subsidisation shall be withdrawn following disconnection from the electricity supplier due to non-payment of service account and or meter tampering until such time as the requirements have been met as described in Council's Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy.

#### Sewerage

Indigence consumers shall be subsidised in full for sewerage levies as determined annually by Council.

# Refuse Removal

Indigence consumers shall be subsidised in full for refuse removal levies as determined annually by Council.

Any measures implemented in terms of **council's** Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy would immediately be stopped.

7.3 Debt owed to Council by an Indigent Household, when registering for the first time in terms of the official Indigent Policy, shall be written off as a once-off concession

# 11 INDIGENT HOUSEHOLDS IN BODIES CORPORATE AND RETIREMENT CENTRES

The onus will be on the Board of Trustees/Managing Agent/Chairperson of a Body Corporate (hereinafter referred to as the representative of the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre) to apply to the municipality, for indigent status to be granted in respect of water consumption on behalf of the owners of those units, who meet the criteria and conditions for qualification.

The onus will be on the unit owner to apply to the municipality for indigent status to be granted in respect of property rates and related charges.

The representative of the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre, will submit applications to the Chief Financial Officer which applications must be accompanied by a certified copy of the Sectional Title Plan of the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre, which indicates the participation quota for each unit, as registered in the Deeds Office.

The Revenue Accountant must verify all applications and after consideration by the Municipal Manager or Chief Financial Officer he/she must notify:

- a. the representative or the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre whether an application was successful or not, with regard to the water consumption; and
- b. the unit owner whether an application was successful or not, with regard to the property rates and other related charges.

The Chief Financial Officer will credit the monthly municipal: -

- a. water account of a Body Corporate or Retirement Centre with water and sewerage charges, the amount which will be calculated by dividing the total number of kiloliters of water consumed by the Body Corporate by the number of units in the complex, but up to the maximum of 6kl of water per month for each unit that qualifies for assistance.
- b. General rates and refuse charges account of the unit owner with the full amount charged.

The representative of the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre in respect of which monthly water credits are allowed under indigent support, must ensure that such credits are off-set against the monthly levies of the relevant individual units; such representative also being required, once every six months, or at such intervals as may be determined by the municipality, to provide proof to the Chief Financial Officer that the monthly levies of poor households which qualify for assistance, have been adjusted by the amounts credited to the account of the Body Corporate or Retirement Centre.

# 12 PROCESS MANAGEMENT

#### 9.1 Validity period

Validity period of assistance will be for a maximum period of 12 month - municipality's financial year - 1 July to 30 June.

Only applications that have been received during the registration process as determined by Council will be considered and final approval of the indigent list will be in terms of a Council resolution.

Household must re-apply annually except for pensioners who are already receiving the indigence relief. Only verification on pensioners will be conducted by the municipality through the available mechanism to confirm their status.

# 9.2 Death of Registered Applicant

In event that the approved applicant passes away the heir/s of the property must reapply for the indigent support, provided that the stipulated criteria are met.

# 9.3 Publication of Register of Indigent Households

Names of indigent beneficiaries must be open for public perusal and comment

# 9.4 Excess Usage of Allocation

If the level of consumption of the indigent household exceeds the consumption level approved by the municipality, the household will be obliged to pay for the excess consumption on a monthly basis. Such accounts will be subject to the municipality's credit control and debt collection measures.

# 9.5 Termination of Indigent Support

Indigent Support will be terminated under the following circumstances:

- a. Death of account-holder;
- b. End of the 12 month cycle, except in the case of pensioners and child-headed households;
- c. Upon sale of the property;
- d. When circumstances in the indigent household have improved in terms of a gross income

exceeding R3500

- e. If the applicant is found to have lied about his/her personal circumstances or has furnished false information regarding indigent status, in which case the following will apply:
  - All arrears will become payable immediately;
  - ii. Stringent credit control measures will apply;
  - iii. The applicant will not be eligible to apply for indigent support for a period of 2 years;

#### 9.6 Audit and review

The municipality will conduct an audit of the indigent register on a quarterly basis with regard to the information furnished by applicants and possible changes in status, the usage of allocations and debt collection measures applied;

Any resident, Councillor, Ward Committee member or official may, in writing, addressed to the Municipal Manager, query the qualification of a recipient indigent debtor within 21 days from the date the applicant's name appears on the Indigent Management Register;

The Municipal Manager shall refer queries referred to in [9.6.2.] above to the relevant official for Indigent Support who may take one or more of the following actions:

- Request the indigent debtor against whom a query has been raised to provide full proof of his/her banking account and income details as well as pension registration number;
- Undertake an inspection at the indigent debtor's place of residence to determine his/her social conditions;
- c. Request a social welfare worker's report on the indigent debtor's household; and
- d. Where after the official shall recommend to the Municipal Manager for submission to Council such action as he may deem appropriate in the circumstances including a recommendation to the Council:
  - that the indigent status of the debtor be suspended for a defined period and subject to such conditions as it may determine;
  - that irregular or excess payments of indigent subsidies be recovered from the indigent debtor by way of debiting such indigent debtor's services account or accounts with such payments;
  - that normal credit control measures be applied to the indigent debtor in accordance with the Council's Credit Control Policy; and
  - iv. that criminal charges of theft or fraud be instituted against the indigent debtor;
- e. The Municipal Manager must, in writing, advice a complainant who lodges a query against an indigent debtor of the result of the investigation;

f. The indigent status of a debtor cannot be withdrawn, suspended or altered until and unless such debtor has been given an opportunity to be heard and make representations on the allegations against him or her.

# 13 MONITORING AND REPORTING

The Chief Financial Officer shall report annually to the Municipal Manager in a suitable format to enable the Municipal Manager to report to Council and other interested parties.

Such report shall reflect on:

- a. Number of indigent households applied;
- b. Amount of subsidy allocated per service category;
- c. Amount of debt accumulating and debt recovery information (number of customers / enquiries / default arrangements / growth or diminishing of arrear debtors / ideally divided into wards / domestic / state / institutional and other such divisions);
- d. Performance of all areas against targets set in the municipality's performance management system;
- e. Changes in the registered status of indigents.

For the purposes of transparency the Council, and for the perusal by Councillors, Ward Committees and officials, the Chief Financial Officer shall cause to be kept a Indigent Management Register of all indigent households at Office of the Council containing:

- a. the names of indigent debtors receiving indigent relief for a prescribed period;
- b. the erf or stand numbers where services are rendered to recipient indigent debtors;
- c. the total household income of recipient indigent debtors; and
- d. the number of dependants residing on the property of the recipient indigent debtor;

An annual report must be submitted, per ward to the Executive Committee and Council of:

- a. applications received;
- b. applications approved;
- c. applications declined; and
- d. indigent defaulters.

An annual renewal notification in terms of Council's laid down timetable, shall be processed by the municipality.

# 14 BUDGETING FOR INDIGENT SUPPORT SUBSIDY

The Council must annually budget for the total indigent subsidy to be granted to indigent debtors in terms of this Policy. Such amount must, upon approval of the budget of the Council, be reflected against a separate vote in the name of **Free Basic Services**.

The total value of indigent subsidies for all subsidised services must be reflected against such Free Basic Services on a monthly basis.

# 15 COMMUNICATION AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

The Council shall, with the aid of Ward Committees, embark on an extensive community communications programme aimed at informing communities of the contents of this policy and the duty on them to pay service charges and contribute to the funds of the Municipality.

The Council should endeavour to support and, within its capacity, access skills training and other education related programmes aimed at developing the indigent to become self - sufficient and thereby reducing the rate of indigence.

# **16 APPEALS**

The applicant on an indigent household application, which has been declined, may appeal against such decision.

The appeal must be in writing and lodged with the Municipal Manager within 14 days after receipt of the notification setting out:

- a. the reason for the appeal; and
- b. any other documentary proof in support of the appeal.

The appeal shall be decided: -

- a. within 21 days after lodgement of the appeal;
- b. strictly in terms of the provisions of the bylaw and this policy; and
- c. by three officials from Budget & Treasury department designated by the Municipal Manager.

The decision of the committee is final and the appellant shall be notified of the outcome in writing.

# 17 OFFENCES

Any applicant who misuses the indigent support policy of the Council or provides incorrect information to the Municipality and or tampers with the supply of services or municipal installations shall be subject to forfeiture of indigent status, criminal prosecution and other measures as determined by the Council within the Credit and Debt Collection Policy.

# 18 NOTICES AND DOCUMENTS

A notice or document issued by the Council in terms of this policy shall be deemed to be duly issued if signed by an employee duly authorized by the Council.

If a notice is to be served on a person in terms of this policy, such service shall be effected by:

- a. Delivering the notice to him personally;
- b. By delivering the notice at his residence or to a person apparently not less than sixteen years of age and apparently residing or employed there;
- c. If he has nominated an address for legal purposes, by delivering the notice to such an address; or
- d. By registered or certified post addressed to his last known address;
- e. If service cannot be effected in terms of the aforesaid sub-sections by affixing it to the principal door of entry to the premises, or displaying it on a conspicuous place on the land.

# 19 REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF POLICY

The Council has the discretionary power to amend any clause, stipulation or tariff embodied in this Policy in the interests of all the parties concerned at the annual budgetary review of Council policies in conjunction with the consideration of the annual budget of the Council.

# **20 IMPLEMENTATION**

This Free basic services and indigent support Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on:31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr:38/05/2018

# **EMAKHAZENI LOCAL MUNICIPALITY**



# CREDIT CONTROL AND DEBT COLLECTION POLICY

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON: 31/05/2018 IMPLEMENTATION DATE: 01/07/2018

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	INTRODUCTION	92
2	DEFINITIONS	93
3	OBJECTIVES	95
4	SCOPE OF APPLICATION	95
5	LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK	95
6	PRINCIPLES	95
7	CREDIT CONTROL	96
8	DEBT MANAGEMENT	96
9	UNAUTHORISED CONNECTION OF WATER/ELECTRICITY SUPPLY	105
10	ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES	105
11	MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REPORTING	107
12	IMPLEMENTATION	108

#### Introduction

#### Vision and value statement

It is the vision of Council to "be a developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities.

Council is committed to its mission to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

# The Values of the Council are:

Consultation Service Standards Access Courtesy Information Transparency Redress Value for money

# Vision

A developmental local municipality striving to accelerate provision of quality services to the satisfaction of our communities

# Mission

Emakhazeni Local Municipality exist to improve the quality of life of its citizens by providing accelerated services and creation of conducive environment for economic growth through good governance, innovation and integrated planning

#### Definitions

#### **Definitions:**

"billing" refers to the process of charging for services provided by issuing accounts;

"chief financial officer" means a person designated in terms of section 80(2)(a) of the Municipal Finance Management Act;

"credit control" refers to the performance of certain basic credit worthiness checks prior to a municipal service being provided and deposits collected;

"debt collection" means the pursuing of uncollected debts that are past the due date;

"disconnection" means interrupting the supply of water or electricity to a debtor as a consequence of ignoring the demand for payment;

"dispute" refers to the instance when a debtor questions the correctness of any account rendered by the municipality to him/her and such debtor lodges an appeal with the municipality;

"due date" means the final date of payment as shown on the account;

"effective disconnection" means the physical removal of pipes and/or equipment as a consequence of unauthorized reconnection of the disconnected service;

"financial year" means the municipality's financial year ending 30 June;

"holistic" refers to the combining of all debt in order to establish the total obligation the debtor has to The municipality;

"indigents" are debtors whose households have been evaluated in terms of the Indigent Policy and who is registered as being indigent;

"indigent amount" refers to the applicable value of the indigent subsidy as determined by the Municipality from time to time;

"legal process or procedures and/or legal action" refers to the process and/or action described in the Magistrate Courts Act No. 32 of 1944; Supreme Court Act No. 59 of 1959; Adjustment of Fines Act No. 101 of 1991; Debt Collectors Act No. 114 of 1998, Criminal Procedures Act No. 51 of 1977; Local Government: Cross-Boundary Municipalities Act No. 29 of 2000, Local Government: Municipal Structures Amendment Act No. 33 of 2000; Local Government: Municipal Systems Act No. 32 of 2000;

"mayor" means the councilor elected as the executive mayor of the municipality in terms of section 55 of the Municipal Structures Act; ;

"the municipality" means Emakhazeni Local Municipality;

"municipal manager" means a person appointed in terms of section 82(1)(a) or (b) of the Municipal Structures Act;

"payment" is any form of redemption towards the balance on an account as per Receipts policy 7.1 "permissible methods of payments.

"sundry debt" refers to any debt other than for rates, housing, metered services, sewerage and refuse removal;

"supply" means any metered supply of water or electricity;

"tampering" means the unauthorized reconnection of a supply that has been disconnected for non-payment, the interference with the supply mains or bypassing of the metering equipment to obtain an unmetered service; and

"total household income or household income" refers to the total formal and informal gross income of all people living permanently or temporarily on the property on which the account is based.

# Objectives

The objectives of this policy are to:

- provide a framework for the municipality with regard to credit control, debt management, debt impairment and debt write off.
- ensure that all the moneys due to the municipality are effectively and efficiently collected;

# **Scope of Application**

This Policy applies to all administrations within the defined boundaries of Emakhazeni Local Municipality and all debtors of these administrations, including employees and Council members of the Municipality.

# Legislative Framework

The policy has been formulated in terms of section 96(b) of the Local Government: Municipal Systems Act.

# **Principles**

Human dignity must be upheld at all times.

The policy must be implemented with equity, fairness and consistency.

- 6.3 Details related to the debt and the account of the debtor must be correct at all times.
- The implementation of this policy should be based on sound business practices. This includes debt collection through sanctions of warnings, disconnections, and other legal processes.

The municipality may provide reduced levels of service to manage the debt growth where alternatives are available.

All disconnection / reconnection costs incurred by The municipality relating to the collection process shall be recovered from the debtor. In instances where the municipality incurs legal cost those may be recovered from the debtor as well.

Interest on outstanding debt will be charged on all consumers at prime rate for the 2018/2019 financial year

# **Employer deductions**

The current account outstanding on municipal invoices on properties where municipal employees as well as municipal as well as arrear amounts councillors reside will be deducted from their salaries on a monthly basis.

# Credit Control

#### **APPLICATION FOR MUNICIPAL SERVICES**

- All applicants for provision of municipal services must pay prescribed deposit as reflected in the municipal tariffs list approved by Council.
- The applicant is required to submit Municipal Services Application Form together with the ID document for identification. If an owner is opening a second account then all the outstanding invoiced amount has to be settled prior to opening a new account. Before a municipal account is closed outstanding balance has to be settled.
- The Property Owner is fully and legally responsible for payment of all municipal services for his / her property on a monthly basis.
- At the time of applying for municipal services, the property owner must sign the application form as evidence of acknowledging the debt with the municipality.
- Before any property can be transferred from one owner to another, the account must be settled, after which the municipality will issue a Clearance Certificate to that effect, No property transfer can take place without the issue of a Clearance certificate.
- Once the Clearance Certificate has been issued only then can new rates and services account be applied for by the new owner.
- Application for services for businesses must include the submission of a resolution delegating authority to the applicant and furnishing the business entity's registration number. The names, addresses and all relevant contact particulars of all the entity's directors or members or trustees or proprietors or partners must be submitted with the resolution.

#### Debt Management

#### **MUNICIPAL TRADING SERVICES**

- Accounts for municipal services must be paid by the due date which is on /before the 05th of each month.
- The debtor must be warned by any communication means as elected by the municipality of possible disconnection if payment is not received by the due date.
- If payment is not received by the due date, notice shall be delivered to physical address/post office/sms/e-mail, warning of the impending disconnection after 7 days from date of the notice.
- If payment is not received by the due date as shown on the notice, then the supply of services will be discontinued.
- Council reserves the right to deny or restrict the sale of electricity or water to customers who are in arrears with their property rates or any other municipal service charges.
- The reconnection of services will be done upon receipt of total balance amount specified on the notice including a reconnection fee.
- Disconnected services will be restored within a reasonable period of time after the debtor produces proof of payment of the required amount.
- All arrangements with the debtors should strive to result in an agreement that is sustainable and is most beneficial to the municipality. No arrangements may be entered into with regards to the current invoiced amount as well as arrears effective from 1 January 2017.
- All debtors that are in arrears and wish to apply to make arrangements to reschedule their debt will be subjected to the payment arrangements contained in this policy.
- A staff member or a Councilor of the Municipality may not be in arrears to the municipality for rates and service charges for a period longer than three (3) month
- Each consumer query will be dealt with according to its merit/circumstance whereby corrections on the accounts will done according to the agreement reached between the client and the municipality.
- The onus shall always be on the debtor to request reconnection and to provide proof that the full amount on the disconnection notice was paid or that an arrangement was entered into.

# PREPAID ELECTRICITY

- A debtor consumer may only purchase pre- paid electricity once their current invoiced amount is paid (This included arrears from 1 January 2017.)
- Municipality will produce a quarterly report of all municipal prepaid consumers who are not purchasing electricity on a monthly basis. The report is called the Prepaid Electricity Consumption Exception Report.
- Municipal Technicians or an appointed contractor will perform physical inspection of all the properties of all the properties appearing on the Prepaid Electricity Consumption Exception Report . Prohibition of access by the residence will results in the municipality, taking steps against such consumer
- Municipality will investigate and consider root causes for a consumer to be on the Prepaid Electricity Consumption Exception Report.

97

#### TAMPERING WITH THE MUNICIPAL PREPAID ELECTRICITY METER

# a) First tampering:

- A penalty based on the approved Municipal Tariff list must be paid with immediate effect and the meter be removed, plus;
- Average charge of the consumer / or consumer's residing in the same of three months consumption will be affected over the period of non-payment.
- Criminal Charges may be instituted

# b) Second tampering:

- Removal of the circuit breaker, and;
- Replacement of meter after payment of penalty based on approved Tariff list
- Plus, average charges. of the consumer / or consumer's residing in the same of three months consumption will be affected over the period of non-payment.
- Criminal Charges may be instituted

# c) Third tampering:

- Removal of municipal electricity cable from the property ,and,
- Replaced after a payment of penalty based on approved Tariff list
- Plus, average charges of six months consumption of the consumer / or consumer's
  residing in the same of three months consumption will be affected over the period of
  non-payment.
- Criminal charges may be instituted.
- After which a Municipality will accept a new application for services.

The municipal services will remain suspended until the municipal account is settled in full.

#### FINE FOR ILLEGAL CONNECTION

- a. Illegal connection of previously disconnected services as a result of non payment will result in the debtor being required to pay the full outstanding amount on the municipal account.
- b. No arrangement may be entered into for illegal connections and/ or meter tampering. The debtor will also be required to pay outstanding arrears on municipal account prior to reconnection of any services.

#### WHISTLE BLOWING

- a. An amount of R 500 may be payable by Council subject to the following:
  - The whistle blower's name be kept confidential
  - The whistle blower's information leads to the removal of the meter tempered with
  - The amount is payable upon the removal of the meter and not upon payment by the illegal connector

 Monies of R500.00 payable for whistle blowing; will be added to the fine to the consumer whom has illegally tampered.

The payment of whistle blowing is to be approved by the municipal manager.

# **BLOCKING OF ELECTRICITY PRE-PAID METER**

Once a pre- paid meter has been blocked the current invoiced amount on municipal account as well as arrears effective from 1January 2017 are payable.

# **BACK DATED MUNICIPAL RATES AND SERVICES**

- 8.7.1 The municipality may, if it is found that the relevant consumer of services has been undercharged and or unmetered and or unbilled and for a period of time irrespective of the reason, the municipality will charge the consumer for the period as determined but not exceeding three (3) years, from the date that the consumer is made aware of the back charge in writing by the municipality.
- 8.7.2 The municipality will calculate the back charges based on the three months consumer profile from the meter correction, billing correction, meter installation, data correction or any other reason that led to the discrepancy. In the event that consumer information is not comprehensive then an average of consumers' who reside in the same area may be used.
- 8.7.3 The consumer may pay the back dated municipal rates and service charges in one installment or may enter into an arrangement to pay this amount off in equal installments for a period that will be approved by the municipality.

# **DISCRETION: NEGOTIABLE AMOUNTS**

- a) Discretion in terms of arranged amounts as per this policy is delegated to the Chief Financial Officer.
- b) Discretion will only be used so as to apply the principles embodied within this policy and to ensure that some form of payment acceptable to The municipality is forthcoming from arrangement with the debtor.

#### **RIGHT OF ACCESS**

- a) An authorised representative of, or service provider to The municipality, must at all reasonable hours be given unrestricted access to the debtor's premises in order to read, inspect, install or repair any meter, service or service connection for reticulation, or to disconnect, reconnect, stop or restrict the provision of any service.
- b) Any person who contravenes paragraph (a) above will be deemed to have contravened the provisions of Section 101 of the Municipal Systems Act, No. 32 of

2000, as amended, and will be charged with an offence and attract the penalties referred to in Section 119 of the said Act and services will be disconnected until such time that the penalty is paid and access is granted.

#### **OTHER DEBT**

# **Employee debt**

#### a) Definition

Employee debts include any debt owed to the Municipality by an official or former official which originated while the debtor was/is in the employ of the Municipality, and any other debt classified as such by the Chief Financial Officer.

#### b) Management of employee debt

- A debt account must be opened on the approved financial system when a debt has not been settled within 30 days of notification of such debt to the debtor.
- It is the responsibility of officials entrusted with the collection of debt to take all possible steps to recover the debt by:
  - Notifying the debtor of the amount payable;
  - ii) Sending of monthly statements; and
  - iii) Sending of reminders for payments outstanding/overdue.
- If no response is received the following steps must be taken:
  - A reminder must be sent per registered mail/e-mail/sms and the registered mail nr/sms number/e-mail address/ must be noted on the file copy of the letter;
  - ii) if no response is received on the reminder sent as mentioned above in (c)(i), legal steps must be taken to recover the debt; and

# d) <u>Tracing of employee debtors</u>

- ♦ The following institutions/persons, although not the only, can be approached in an endeavour to obtain a debtor's current address.
  - i) Other Municipalities
  - ii) Post Offices
  - iii) The Department of Home Affairs
  - iv) Relatives
- ♦ If enquiries to at least 2 or more of the above-mentioned institutions are unsuccessful such debt may be referred to 3<sup>rd</sup> party debt collectors for recovery.

#### **ARRANGEMENTS**

# **Principles for Debtor**

a) Current charges must be paid in full and is not negotiable.

b) Debtors who default on three occasions in respect of arrangements made will be denied the privilege of making further arrangements and the full amount becomes payable. All services may be disconnected and legal action will be taken against such debtors.

# Arrangement criteria for debtors

a) All debtors who are in arrears and apply to make arrangements to reschedule their debt will be subjected to the following conditions at the time of making arrangement with the municipality:

# First arrangement

- Payment of Current account, plus
- ♦ Payment of initial amount of 30% of the total outstanding debt, after which the agreement will be signed by both parties.
- ♦ The monthly instalment must be current account and the outstanding amount as agreed upon with municipality.
- b) Each following month the debtor will be required to pay:
  - Current account, plus,
  - ♦ An instalment as agreed upon.
- Should the debtor not honour the FIRST arrangements, municipal services will be disconnected.
  - ♦ Arrangements on first default :
    - Payment of current account plus 30% of the outstanding debt

:

- Arrangements on second default
  - Payment of current account plus 50% of the outstanding debt.
- Arrangements on third default :
  - Payment of current account plus 100% of the outstanding debt.
- d) Principles for Non-residential debtors
  - If any non-residential debtor wishes to make an arrangement for a period of not longer than six months, and will pay the first instalment immediately, and ensure that the current account is paid in full immediately throughout the period of the arrangement. All outstanding amount as from 1 July 2016 will attract interests.
  - interest on the arrangement amount may be suspended as long as the terms of the arrangement are maintained.
  - Non-residential debtors may make arrangements to liquidate their arrears where it would be financially beneficial to the Municipality for them to do so.
  - The final decision to make these arrangements will rest with the Accounting Officer.

 For all non residential payment defaulters customer using below 50kVAcapacity the council will switch their payment mode from convention to prepaid.

# Consequences of failure to comply with arrangements

Failure to comply with the agreed arrangements will result in disconnection of service. Services will only be reconnected after a full outstanding amount on the account is paid. Legal processes will be instituted to areas where the municipality is not providing electricity.

No further arrangement can be entertained by the municipality if the debtor is handed over to the lawyers.

# **DISPUTE**

Procedure to be followed in terms of a dispute:

Debt	or	Municipality			
1.	The debtor must render the dispute in	On receipt of the dispute, the following acti	on		
	writing to The municipality.	are to be taken:			
2.	No dispute will be registered verbally.	1. All Administrations must keep a regis			
3.	The debtor must furnish his/her full	in which all disputes received are to	be		
	personal particulars (including his/her	entered.			
	account number and direct contact	2. The following information should be			
١.	details).	reflected in the register:			
4.	The full nature of the dispute must be	♦ Debtor's account number			
_	described in the above correspondence.	♦ Debtor's name			
5.	The onus will be on the debtor to ensure	♦ Debtor's address			
	that he/she receives a written	<ul> <li>Debtors email address</li> </ul>			
	acknowledgement of the dispute.	◆ Full particulars of the dispute			
		<ul> <li>Name of the official to whom t</li> </ul>	_		
		dispute is given to investigate a resolve	and		
		◆ Actions that have/were taken t	to		
		resolve the dispute			
		◆ Signature of the controlling off			
		3. An authorised controlling official will			
		keep custody of the register and con-	duct		
		a weekly check and follow-up on			
		unresolved disputes.			
		4. A written acknowledgement of recei	•		
		of the dispute must be provided to the debtor.	ie		
		5. All appeals regarding disputed amou	ntc		
		must be unilaterally concluded by Th	e		
		municipality's authorised officials with			
		30 working days from receipt thereo	f.		

a) The municipality's authorised official's decision is final and will result in the immediate implementation of any debt collection and credit control measures

- provided for in this policy after the debtor has been notified of the outcome of the appeal.
- b) The same dispute will not be considered and will not again be defined as a dispute.
- c) If the debtor is not satisfied with the outcome of the appeal, he/she may under protest pay the amount in dispute and redress his/her action to a court of law.

#### LEGAL ACTION

- ♦ Legal proceedings may be instituted by the Municipality to recover arrear amounts on service accounts where :-
- ♦ Disconnection action yielded no satisfactory result
- Disconnection action is not possible due to the nature of the services that are provided by the municipality

# IRRECOVERABLE DEBT

- a) Debt will be regarded as irrecoverable if:
  - ♦ All reasonable steps have been taken to recover a specific outstanding amount; or
  - Debts where, in the view of the Municipality, further expenses to collect such debt are not justified in relation to the amount of the debt and possibility of collection;
  - ♦ Debts where a legal opinion to the municipality has indicated that the amount involved does not warrant the prospective costs of action to collect or where legal action will be uneconomical.
  - the cost to recover the debt does not warrant further action; or
  - the amount outstanding is the residue after payment of a dividend in the rand from an insolvent estate; or
  - a deceased estate has no liquid assets(estate) to cover the outstanding amount; or
  - it has been proven that the debt has prescribed(expired); or
  - ♦ the debtor is untraceable; or
  - the debtor cannot be identified so as to proceed with further action; or

- Debts where liability has not been admitted by the debtors and where the success of proceedings to collect is unlikely; and
- ♦ The Municipal Manager is convinced that recovery would cause undue hardship to the debtor or his/ her dependants.
- Where debt cannot be proven or substantiated
- b) Debt will **not** be regarded as irrecoverable if
  - ♦ The outstanding debt can be corrected in line with GRAP 3 (example: administrative errors due to billing).
- c) Irrecoverable debts will be reviewed on an annual basis.

#### **DECEASED ESTATES**

The Executor of a Deceased Estate shall be liable for payment of all debts on the property.

#### **DEBT WRITE OFF**

- a) All irrecoverable debt (as per section 10 of this policy) will be submitted for write-off.
- All write-offs will be submitted to council on an annual basis, unless otherwise directed.
- c) Write offs will be charged against provision for bad debts account in the Statement of Financial Position.
- d) All write-off submissions shall include the relevant debt information such as names, account number, amounts, regions and wards and criteria met to qualify as irrecoverable debt.
- e) All submitted write-offs will be submitted to internal audit for review, whom shall then forward it to Audit Committee for recommendations.
- f) All write-offs should be submitted to internal committee structures and approved by council.

#### **IMPAIRMENT OF CONSUMER DEBTORS**

- a) The Municipality will use the risk scoring method to calculate its debt impairment.
- b)All impairment of debtors will be accounted for in terms of GRAP standards.
- c) All impairment movement/s will be expensed directly to the Statement of Financial Performance.

#### **DISCLAIMER**

Municipal Council will be under no obligation to write off any debt and will always have the sole discretion to do so.

# Unauthorised connection of water/electricity supply

The municipality is unlawfully and unfairly deprived of its benefits and income due to illegal connections by consumers.

The unauthorised reconnection of, or tampering with, a service supply is considered a criminal office which may result in legal action being taken.

#### **INSPECTION**

- a) The municipality will from time to time send a team of employees and or appointed service providers, to inspect illegal connections.
- b) The municipality shall issue a notice to the consumer to be available on a day specified by The municipality.
- c) If the consumer fails to adhere, the water/electricity supply will be effectively disconnected.
- d) The municipality shall incur no liability for any loss sustained as a result of these processes or termination.
- e) The inspection will and is not limited to or confined to The municipality trading hours or working days.
- f) The municipality shall have an unlimited right of access to premises in which such services are rendered.

# **FINE / PENALTY**

The municipality shall within 7 working days of removal or disconnections issue a fine.

The following punishment will be handed down:

# a) First time illegal connectors:

Meter infrastructure will be removed and a fine in line with Council approved tariff list will be payable.

# b) Second time illegal connectors:

Meter cables will be removed and a payable fine in line with Council approved tariff list will be payable.

#### Roles and Responsibilities

#### **Mayor**

A municipality's mayor shall—

- a) oversee and monitor—
  - (i) the implementation and enforcement of the municipality's credit control and debt collection policy and any by-laws enacted; and

- (ii) the performance of the Accounting Officer in implementing the policy and any by-laws;
- b) when necessary, evaluate or review the policy and any by-laws, or the implementation of the policy and any such by-laws, in order to improve efficiency of its credit control and debt collection mechanisms, processes and procedures; and
- c) at such intervals as may be determined by the municipal report to a meeting of the council, except when the council itself performs the duties mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b).

# **Accounting Officer**

# The Accounting Officer shall—

- a) implement and enforce the municipality's credit control and debt collection policy and any by-laws enacted;
- b) in accordance with the credit control and debt collection policy and any such bylaws, establish effective administrative mechanisms, processes and procedures to collect money that is due and payable to the municipality; and
- c) at such intervals as may be determined by the municipal report the prescribed particulars to a meeting of the supervisory authority.

The accounting officer of a municipality shall be responsible for the management of the revenue of the municipality.

The accounting officer shall take all reasonable steps to ensure-

- a) that the municipality has effective revenue collection systems consistent with section 95 of the Municipal Systems Act and the municipality's credit control and debt collection policy;
- b) that revenue due to the municipality is calculated on a monthly basis;
- that accounts for municipal tax and charges for municipal services are prepared on a monthly basis, or less often as may be prescribed where monthly accounts are uneconomical;
- d) that all money received is promptly deposited in accordance with the Municipal Finance Management Act into the municipality's primary and other bank accounts;
- e) that the municipality has and maintains a management, accounting and information system which-
  - (i) recognises revenue when it is earned;
  - (ii) accounts for debtors; and
  - (iii) accounts for receipts of revenue;

- that the municipality has and maintains a system of internal control in respect of debtors and revenue, as may be prescribed;
- g) that the municipality charges interest on arrears, except where the the municipality has granted exemptions in accordance with its budget-related policies and within a prescribed framework: and
- h) that all revenue received by the municipality, including revenue received by any collecting agent on its behalf, is reconciled at least on a weekly basis.

The accounting officer shall immediately inform the National Treasury of any payments due by an organ of state to the municipality in respect of municipal tax or for municipal services, if such payments are regularly in arrears for periods of more than 30 days.

#### **Senior managers**

Each senior manager of a municipality and each official of a municipality exercising financial management responsibilities shall take all reasonable steps within their respective areas of responsibility to ensure that all revenue due to the municipality is collected.

# Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting

The accounting officer of a municipality shall by no later than 10 working days after the end of each month submit to the mayor of the municipality and the relevant provincial treasury a statement in the prescribed format on the state of the municipality's budget reflecting the actual revenue, per revenue source following particulars for that month and for the financial year up to the end of that month.

The accounting officer should furthermore include an explanation of:

- a) any material variances from the municipality's projected revenue by source, and from the municipality's expenditure projections per vote;
- any material variances from the service delivery and budget implementation plan;
   and
- c) any remedial or corrective steps taken or to be taken to ensure that projected revenue and expenditure remain within the municipality's approved budget.

The above statement must include a projection of the relevant municipality's revenue and expenditure for the rest of the financial year.

#### Application of the policy

All services of the municipality as well as all infrastructure used to deliver this service belong to municipality. The Municipality can monitor, upgrade, or remove its infrastructure without notifying and or seeking approval from the consumer.

The municipality reserves the right to differentiate between different categories of consumers, debtors, services or service standards when applying this Policy. The municipality will on application of the credit control policy avoid discrimination as forbidden by the Constitution, unless it is established that the discrimination is fair as allowed by the Constitution. No debtor (excepted for approved Indigent consumers) may be exempted

from credit control action as a sign of goodwill for any period of time as this is in contravention of the action applied in this policy and the Credit Control principles contained in the Municipal Systems Act No. 3 of 2000.

12.2 Should there be any conflict between these By-laws and any other by-laws of municipality, this By-laws prevail.

# **Implementation**

This Credit Control and Debt Collection Policy will be adopted and implemented at the start of the financial year after Council approval.

Approved on: 31/05/2018 Council Resolution nr:38/05/2018

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001. Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065

Also available at the *Provincial Legislature: Mpumalanga*, Private Bag X11289, Room 114, Civic Centre Building, Nel Street, Nelspruit, 1200. Tel. (01311) 5-2133.